

Kent Academic Repository

Casati, Matteo and Wang, Jing Ping (2020) *Recursion and Hamiltonian Operators for Integrable Nonabelian Difference Equations.* Nonlinearity, 34 (1). ISSN 0951-7715.

Downloaded from

https://kar.kent.ac.uk/82506/ The University of Kent's Academic Repository KAR

The version of record is available from

https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6544/aba88c

This document version

Author's Accepted Manuscript

DOI for this version

Licence for this version

CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives)

Additional information

Versions of research works

Versions of Record

If this version is the version of record, it is the same as the published version available on the publisher's web site. Cite as the published version.

Author Accepted Manuscripts

If this document is identified as the Author Accepted Manuscript it is the version after peer review but before type setting, copy editing or publisher branding. Cite as Surname, Initial. (Year) 'Title of article'. To be published in *Title of Journal*, Volume and issue numbers [peer-reviewed accepted version]. Available at: DOI or URL (Accessed: date).

Enquiries

If you have questions about this document contact ResearchSupport@kent.ac.uk. Please include the URL of the record in KAR. If you believe that your, or a third party's rights have been compromised through this document please see our Take Down policy (available from https://www.kent.ac.uk/guides/kar-the-kent-academic-repository#policies).

RECURSION AND HAMILTONIAN OPERATORS FOR INTEGRABLE NONABELIAN DIFFERENCE EQUATIONS

MATTEO CASATI AND JING PING WANG

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we carry out the algebraic study of integrable differential-difference equations whose field variables take values in an associative (but not commutative) algebra. We adapt the Hamiltonian formalism to nonabelian difference Laurent polynomials and describe how to obtain a recursion operator from the Lax representation of an integrable nonabelian differential-difference system. As an application, we propose a novel family of integrable equations: the nonabelian Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice, for which we construct their recursion operators and Hamiltonian operators and prove the locality of infinitely many commuting symmetries generated from their highly nonlocal recursion operators. Finally, we discuss the nonabelian version of several integrable difference systems, including the relativistic Toda chain and Ablowitz-Ladik lattice.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Nonabelian Hamiltonian equations: the θ formalism	4
2.1.	The space of nonabelian difference Laurent polynomials	4
2.2.	Vector fields and difference operators	5 7
2.3.	Hamiltonian operators and functional vector fields	7
3.	Integrable difference equations	11
3.1.	From the Lax representation to the recursion operator	12
3.2.	Nonabelian Volterra	13
3.3.	Nonabelian Toda	14
4.	Integrable nonabelian Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice	15
4.1.	Construction of recursion operators	16
	Locality of symmetries	20
4.3.	Hamiltonian structure	22
5.	More nonabelian integrable equations	23
5.1.	Nonabelian modified Volterra	24
5.2.	Nonabelian relativistic Toda	24
5.3.	Nonabelian Merola-Ragnisco-Tu Lattice	26
5.4.	Nonabelian Kaup Lattice	26
5.5.	Nonabelian Ablowitz-Ladik Lattice	27
5.6.	Nonabelian Chen-Lee-Liu lattice	27
5.7.	Nonabelian Blaszak-Marciniak Lattice	28
6.	Discussion and further work	28
Acknowledgements		30
References		30

1. Introduction

This paper is devoted to the study of hidden structures for integrable differential-difference equations when their field variables take their values in an associative algebra. Typical examples are matrix or operator algebras. Matrix versions of integrable equations appeared in the early days of the modern theory of integrable systems, when matrix KdV was introduced by Lax [28]. The main observation is that there exist many equations of this type which are integrable regardless of the dimension of the matrices [47, Chapter 6, 7]; even more impressively, symmetries and conserved quantities for these systems do not depend on the single entries of these matrices, but are defined in terms of matrix polynomials. This allows us to regard the matrices (or, more precisely, the matrix-valued functions) in the systems "simply" as the generators of an associative but not commutative algebra: the structures we present in this paper for differential-difference systems are then independent from the matrix spaces where the problem was originally set.

Nonabelian integrable systems are not only an interesting generalisation and "abstraction" of matrix systems; this theory can be applied to operator algebras, and the equations we obtain may be regarded as quantised version of classical integrable systems. For example, the nonabelian KdV equation can be obtained promoting the classical fields to a quantum version and replacing Poisson brackets with commutators [14].

Integrable partial differential evolution equations on associative algebras were studied by Olver and Sokolov [42]. The authors developed the basic theory of Hamiltonian structures for associative algebra-valued differential equations and presented a list of integrable one-component evolution equations of such type. The completeness of this list was proved in [43]. In 2000, Mikhailov and Sokolov successfully brought the concepts of symmetries, first integrals, Hamiltonian and recursion operators to integrable ODEs on associative algebras [35]. These were used to prove the integrability of the Kontsevich nonabelian system [52].

Historically, nonabelian integrable differential-difference equations appeared as the discrete analogs of matrix integrable partial differential equations. The matrix Toda lattice is originated from a discrete version of the principal chiral field model proposed by Polyakov [9, 24, 34]. Its quantisation was studied in [22]. Recently, the non-abelian Toda lattice emerged in the study of Matrix valued Hermite polynomials [37]. Despite some specific nonabelian differential-difference equations have appeared in the literature, for example the nonabelian Volterra chain [35] and the aforementioned Toda lattice, so far a systematic study of such equations has not been carried out.

In Section 2 we extend the Hamiltonian formalism to a noncommutative (nonabelian) difference field by adapting the language introduced by Olver and Sokolov [42] for systems of PDEs to the difference case. Differential-difference nonabelian equations we are going to consider are evolutionary equations for functions of a discrete spatial variable and of continuous time. Their Hamiltonian description is obtained in terms of a formal (difference) calculus of variations similar to the one introduced by Kupershmidt [26],

but for a space of noncommutative local densities: that means that we must distinguish between operators of multiplication on the left and on the right – that we denote $l_a f := af$, $r_a f := fa$. A local functional is written as "the integral of the trace of a local density"

$$F = \int \operatorname{Tr} f$$
.

The formal definition is thoroughly discussed in Paragraph 2.1; however, if our noncommutative algebra is an algebra of matrices, the trace operation is the standard one. Moreover, the operation of integral denotes the (possibly infinite) sum over all the lattice sites; in our approach we disregard the issue of convergence and identify it with the equivalence relation up to rigid shifts. Despite the formalism is better tailored for the local case, we use it to prove the Hamiltonian property for both local and certain non-local difference operators. We give a detailed concrete example of this.

In Section 3 we begin with describing the method to construct recursion operators using Lax representation. This method was first proposed in [18] and extended to the case when Lax representations invariant under reduction groups [50, 21, 10]. We then present two basic examples of nonabelian integrable lattices systems: the Volterra and the Toda lattice. They are obtained promoting the Lax representation of the corresponding commutative systems to the nonabelian case. We construct their Hamiltonian and recursion operators.

In Section 4 we introduce and study in detail the nonabelian version of Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice. This is an evolutionary equation for a real-valued function u(n,t), $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, $t \in \mathbb{R}$, such that

$$u_t = \sum_{k=1}^{p} (u_k u - u u_{-k}), \quad p \in \mathbb{N},$$
 (1.1)

where with u_k (resp., u_{-k}) we denote the function evaluated on the translated lattice u(n + k, t) (resp., u(n - k, t)).

Equation (1.1) is Hamiltonian for the operator

$$H = \sum_{k=1}^{p} \left(\mathbf{r}_{u} S^{k} \mathbf{r}_{u} - \mathbf{l}_{u} S^{-k} \mathbf{l}_{u} - \mathbf{r}_{u} \mathbf{l}_{u} + \mathbf{r}_{u}^{2} + \mathbf{c}_{u} (1 - S)^{-1} \mathbf{c}_{u} \right),$$

where we have introduced the notation $c_u := r_u - l_u$ for the commutator and the shift operator $S^k u = u_k$. The Hamiltonian functional is

$$h = \int \operatorname{Tr} u.$$

To the best of our knowledge, this system has not appeared in the literature. We construct its recursion operator for arbitrary p and show that this nonlocal recursion operator generates infinitely many local symmetries.

Finally, in Section 5 we present more examples of nonabelian integrable systems, obtained from their commutative counterparts studied in [21]. We give their Hamiltonian structures, Lax representations and recursion operators, which are computed using the methods in sections 3 and 4. We believe that the equations in section 5.2–5.7 are new.

2. Nonabelian Hamiltonian equations: the θ formalism

In this section we present the language introduced by P. Olver and V. Sokolov [42] to describe Hamiltonian equations defined on an associative (but not commutative) algebra. However, such a formalism is adapted to deal with differential difference systems, rather than partial differential ones.

A differential-difference system is a set of equations describing the time evolution of ℓ functions of two variables $\{u^i(n,t)\}_{i=1}^{\ell} = \mathbf{u}(n,t)$, where $n \in \Gamma \subseteq \mathbb{Z}$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}$; In this paper we consider the infinite case $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. The *shift operator* S acts on the functions $\mathbf{u}(n,t)$ and gives the function evaluated on shifted variables n, by

$$S^{j}\mathbf{u}(n,t)=\mathbf{u}(n+j,t),$$

that we denote as \mathbf{u}_i .

As for the formal calculus of variations introduced by Kupershmidt [26], we replace the functions $\{u^i(n,t)\}$ with a (formal) algebra of difference polynomials.

2.1. The space of nonabelian difference Laurent polynomials. Let \mathcal{A} be the linear associative algebra (over \mathbb{R}) of the Laurent polynomials in the variables u_n^i , $i=1,\ldots,\ell$ and $n\in\mathbb{Z}$. We denote the (nonabelian) product in \mathcal{A} by simple juxtaposition; each monomial possesses an inverse by $(u_n^i)^{-1}u_n^i=u_n^i(u_n^i)^{-1}=1$ and

$$(u_{n_1}^{i_1}u_{n_2}^{i_2}\cdots u_{n_p}^{i_p})^{-1}=(u_{n_p}^{i_p})^{-1}\cdots (u_{n_2}^{i_2})^{-1}(u_{n_1}^{i_1})^{-1}.$$

In this formal setting, the *shift operator* is an automorphism of \mathcal{A} , namely a linear map $\mathcal{S}: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ such that $\mathcal{S}(ab) = \mathcal{S}(a)\mathcal{S}(b)$ for all $a, b \in \mathcal{A}$. Its action on the generators is given by

$$\mathcal{S}u_n^i=u_{n+1}^i.$$

We call the elements of \mathcal{A} the *difference* (*Laurent*) polynomials. Let [a,b] = ab - ba denote the commutator on \mathcal{A} .

Moreover, we introduce an equivalence relation in \mathcal{A} , up to cyclic permutations of the product, and we call the canonical projection the *trace* – it obviously vanishes on commutators Tr[a,b]=0.

The basic example of \mathcal{A} is given by regarding the generators $\{u_n^i\}$ as elements of \mathfrak{gl}_N ; the trace is then the standard trace of matrices.

The elements of the quotient space

$$\mathcal{F} = \frac{\mathcal{A}}{(\mathcal{S} - 1)\mathcal{A} + [\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]}$$

are called *local functionals*. We denote the projection from $\mathcal A$ to $\mathcal F$ as $\int \operatorname{Tr} \cdot$, which satisfies

$$\int \operatorname{Tr} \mathcal{S} f = \int \operatorname{Tr} f, \qquad \int \operatorname{Tr} f g = \int \operatorname{Tr} g f$$

for all $f, g \in \mathcal{A}$.

Note in particular that we have a difference version of the integration by parts, namely

$$\int \operatorname{Tr}(\mathcal{S}f)g = \int \operatorname{Tr} \mathcal{S}^{-1}((\mathcal{S}f)g) = \int \operatorname{Tr} f(\mathcal{S}^{-1}g).$$

2.2. Vector fields and difference operators.

Definition 1. An *evolutionary difference vector field* X is a derivation of \mathcal{A} that commutes with \mathcal{S} .

Derivations on $\mathcal A$ must be treated carefully because of the non-commutative product. A generic derivation on $\mathcal A$ has the form

$$X = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \phi^{i,n} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_n^i},$$

 $\phi^{i,n} \in \mathcal{A}$. Imposing the commutation rule with \mathcal{S} we find as a necessary and sufficient condition

$$\phi^{i,n} = \mathcal{S}^n X^i,$$

where $\{X^i\}_{i=1}^{\ell}$ is called the *characteristic* of the evolutionary vector field. Since X is by definition a derivation, the Leibniz's rule applies:

$$X(fg) = X(f)g + fX(g).$$

Note that $fX(g) \neq X(g)f$; using the Leibniz's rule for monomials in \mathcal{A} we obtain

$$X(u_{n_1}^{i_1}u_{n_2}^{i_2}\cdots u_{n_k}^{i_k}) = \left(S^{n_1}X^{i_1}\right)u_{n_2}^{i_2}\cdots u_{n_k}^{i_k} + u_{n_1}^{i_1}\left(S^{n_2}X^{i_2}\right)\cdots u_{n_k}^{i_k} + \cdots + u_{n_1}^{i_1}u_{n_2}^{i_2}\cdots\left(S^{n_k}X^{i_k}\right).$$

and

$$X((u_n^i)^{-1}) = -u_n^i X(u_n^i) u_n^i.$$

Definition 2. A local scalar difference operator is a linear map $K: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ that can be written as a linear combination of terms of the form $\mathbf{r}_f \mathbf{l}_g \mathcal{S}^p$ for $p \in \mathbb{Z}$, f, g in \mathcal{A} , where \mathbf{r} and \mathbf{l} denote, respectively, the multiplication on the right and the multiplication on the left. Namely, we have

$$r_f l_g S^p h = g(S^p h) f.$$

The multiplication operators have the obvious properties

$$1_f l_g = l_{fg} \qquad \qquad r_f r_g = r_{gf} \qquad \qquad r_f l_g = l_g r_f.$$

Moreover, we define the *commutator* $c_f := r_f - l_f$, that is, $[f, g] = c_g f$ and c_f is a derivation. Indeed, we have

$$c_f(gh) = (c_f g)h + g(c_f h).$$

The Fréchet derivative of $f \in \mathcal{A}$ is a difference operator $f_* \colon \mathcal{A}^\ell \to \mathcal{A}$ defined so that

$$f_*[P] := \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\epsilon} f(u^i + \epsilon P^i) \Big|_{\epsilon=0}.$$

for $P = \{P^i\}_{i=1}^{\ell}$, $P^i \in \mathcal{A}$. With the notation $f(u^i + \epsilon P^i)$ we denote the element of $\mathcal{A}[\epsilon]$ obtained by replacing the generators u^i (and their shifts u^i_n) in the

expression of f with $u^i + \epsilon P^i$ (and corresponding shifts), where $\epsilon = S\epsilon$ is a formal constant parameter. It is closely related to evolutionary vector fields, namely for any $f \in \mathcal{A}$ and P we have $f_*[P] = X_P(f)$, where with X_P we denote the evolutionary vector field with characteristic $\{P^i\}$.

For a monomial $h = u_{n_1}^{i_1} u_{n_2}^{i_2} \cdots u_{n_k}^{i_k}$, we have

$$h_{*}[P] = \sum_{p=1}^{k} u_{n_{1}}^{i_{1}} u_{n_{2}}^{i_{2}} \cdots u_{n_{p-1}}^{i_{p-1}} \left(S^{n_{p}} P^{i_{p}} \right) u_{n_{p+1}}^{i_{p+1}} \cdots u_{n_{k}}^{i_{k}}$$

$$= \sum_{p=1}^{k} 1_{u_{n_{1}}^{i_{1}}} 1_{u_{n_{2}}^{i_{2}}} \cdots 1_{u_{n_{p-1}}^{i_{p-1}}} r_{u_{n_{k}}^{i_{k}}} r_{u_{n_{k-1}}^{i_{k-1}}} \cdots r_{u_{n_{p+1}}^{i_{p+1}}} S^{n_{p}} P^{i_{p}}.$$

The formal adjoint of the difference operator $K = 1_f \mathbf{r}_g S^p$ is

$$K^{\dagger} := \mathcal{S}^{-p} \mathbf{r}_f \mathbf{l}_g,$$

and it is defined from the identity

$$\int \operatorname{Tr} (a(Kb)) = \int \operatorname{Tr} ((K^{\dagger}a)b)$$

We say that a (scalar) difference operator is *skewsymmetric* if $K^{\dagger} = -K$.

In the multi-component case, namely when $\ell > 1$, we consider $\ell \times \ell$ matrices $(K)_{ij}$ whose entries are scalar difference operators. They define difference operators $K \colon \mathcal{A}^{\ell} \to \mathcal{A}^{\ell}$. In this setting, the formal adjoint of K is $(K^{\dagger})_{ij} = (K)_{ji}^{\dagger}$. To avoid making the notation too heavy, we denote the entry $(K)_{ij}$ as K^{ij} .

Given a local functional $F \in \mathcal{F}$, we use the Fréchet derivative to define its variational derivative in a fashion which is consistent with the non commutativity of the setting.

Taken a generic evolutionary vector field of characteristic $v = \{v^i\}_{i=1}^{\ell}$, we define the variational derivative by the formula

$$\int \operatorname{Tr} \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \frac{\delta F}{\delta u^{i}} v^{i} := \int \operatorname{Tr} F_{*}[v].$$

In the commutative case, this is equivalent to the standard form

$$\frac{\delta F}{\delta u^i} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} S^{-n} \frac{\partial F}{\partial u_n^i}.$$

A differential-difference system

$$u_t^i = X^i(\mathbf{u}, \mathcal{S}\mathbf{u}, \mathcal{S}^2\mathbf{u}, \dots) \qquad i = 1, \dots, \ell$$
 (2.1)

is identified, in this formal setting, with an evolutionary vector field of characteristic $\{X^i\}_{i=1}^{\ell}$. The time evolution of a local functional F is, then, given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}F}{\mathrm{d}t} = \int \mathrm{Tr}\, F_*[X].$$

2.3. Hamiltonian operators and functional vector fields. The notion of functional vector field was introduced in the context of Hamiltonian (commutative) PDEs [25, 40, 23]. It was then generalised to the nonabelian case [42] and to the commutative difference one [26, 11].

In this paper we follow closely Olver and Sokolov's treatment of the subject, while a broader geometrical description will be discussed in a forthcoming work.

We define basic uni-vectors $\theta_{i,n}$, where $\theta_{i,n} = S^n \theta_i$. Since the variables u_n^i to which they are "duals" (more precisely, they should be regarded as dual objects of du_n^i) are not commutative with respect to the product, they do not have any particular parity under it (as opposite as in the commutative case, where they are Grassmann variables).

Let $\hat{\mathcal{A}} := \mathcal{A}[\{\theta_{i,n}\}_{i=1,n\in\mathbb{Z}}^{\ell}]$ be the space of polynomials in θ 's with difference functions as coefficients. We call the elements of $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$ the *densities of (functional) poly-vector fields*. The space $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$ is a graded algebra where $\deg_{\theta}\theta_{i,n}=1$, $\deg_{\theta}u_n^i=0$. Homogeneous elements of $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$ of degree p in θ are densities of p-vector fields. Functional vector fields are elements of the quotient space

$$\hat{\mathcal{F}} = \frac{\hat{\mathcal{A}}}{(\mathcal{S} - 1)\hat{\mathcal{A}} + [\hat{\mathcal{A}}, \hat{\mathcal{A}}]}.$$

The trace form (and as a consequence the quotient operation $\hat{\mathcal{A}} \twoheadrightarrow \hat{\mathcal{F}}$) is graded commutative, namely

$$\operatorname{Tr}(a b) = (-1)^{|a||b|} \operatorname{Tr}(b a),$$

where we denote $|a| := \deg_{\theta} a$. To make the notation lighter, we denote $\theta_i = \theta_{i,0}$ in the multi-component case, and – when we move to the scalar $\ell = 1$ case – $\theta_n = \theta_{1,n}$, $\theta = \theta_{1,0}$. To avoid confusion between unshifted basic univectors in the multi-component case and shifted ones in the scalar case, in the following Sections we will introduce different Latin and Greek letters denoting, respectively, different u^i 's and θ_i 's.

To any difference operator $K: \mathcal{A}^{\ell} \to \mathcal{A}^{\ell}$ we associate a formal vector field $\mathbf{pr}_{K\theta}$ whose characteristics is $\{\sum_{j} K^{ij}\theta_{j}\}$. Such a formal vector field is a graded derivation (of degree 1), namely it satisfies the graded Leibniz's property

$$\mathbf{pr}_{K\theta}(ab) = \mathbf{pr}_{K\theta}(a)b + (-1)^{|a|}a\,\mathbf{pr}_{K\theta}(b).$$

To any difference operator *K* we can associate the functional *bivector*

$$P = \frac{1}{2} \int \text{Tr} \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{\ell} \theta_i K^{ij} \theta_j \right). \tag{2.2}$$

Note that the operator *K* acts on the variable on its right. Similarly, for *K* a *skewsymmetric* difference operator we can define a bracket between local functionals

$$\{F,G\} := \int \operatorname{Tr} \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{\ell} \frac{\delta F}{\delta u^i} K^{ij} \frac{\delta G}{\delta u^j} \right). \tag{2.3}$$

The skewsymmetry of the bracket is equivalent to the skewsymmetry of K; the graded commutativity of the trace and the integral in (2.2) imply that only the skewsymmetric part of K is involved in the definition of P.

Definition 3. We say that a skewsymmetric difference operator H is Hamiltonian if the bracket defined via (2.3) is a Lie algebra bracket on \mathcal{F} , namely it satisfies Jacobi's identity

$${A, {B, C}} + {B, {C, A}} + {C, {A, B}} = 0$$

for all $A, B, C \in \mathcal{F}$.

Definition 4. We say that an evolutionary system (2.1) is a *Hamiltonian* system if and only if

$$X^{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{\ell} H^{ij} \frac{\delta}{\delta u^{j}} \left(\int \operatorname{Tr} h \right),$$

with H a Hamiltonian operator and for a local functional $\int \operatorname{Tr} h$ which is called "the Hamiltonian" of the system.

A statement to determine whether a differential operator is Hamiltonian is given by Olver [41, Chapter 7] for the commutative case. The same statement and proof are valid in nonabelian difference case. However, its proof relies on the properties of the variational derivative and of the graded vector field $\mathbf{pr}_{H\theta}$. We only present the statement.

Theorem 5. A difference operator H is Hamiltonian if and only if

$$\mathbf{pr}_{H\theta}P = \frac{1}{2} \int \text{Tr} \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{\ell} \mathbf{pr}_{H\theta}(\theta_i H^{ij}\theta_j) \right) = 0.$$
 (2.4)

We say that the corresponding bivector *P* is a Poisson bivector.

Example 6. Let $\ell = 2$. We denote by a, b the generators of \mathcal{A} and by θ and ζ the corresponding basic vectors in $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$. The matrix operator

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & r_a S - l_a \\ r_a - l_{a-1} S^{-1} & r_b - l_b \end{pmatrix}$$
 (2.5)

is Hamiltonian.

Let us denote Θ the two-component vector (θ, ζ) . We have

$$H\Theta = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathbf{r}_{a} \mathcal{S} - \mathbf{l}_{a} \\ \mathbf{r}_{a} - \mathbf{l}_{a_{-1}} \mathcal{S}^{-1} & \mathbf{r}_{b} - \mathbf{l}_{b} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \theta \\ \zeta \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \zeta_{1} a - a \zeta \\ \theta a - a_{-1} \theta_{-1} + \zeta b - b \zeta \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$P = \frac{1}{2} \int {\rm Tr}\, \Theta_i H^{ij} \Theta_j = \int {\rm Tr} \left(a \theta \zeta_1 + a \zeta \theta + b \zeta \zeta \right).$$

The straightforward application of the formula for $\mathbf{pr}_{H\Theta}$, together with the graded commutativity of the trace, gives

$$\mathbf{pr}_{H\Theta}P = \int \operatorname{Tr}\left[(\zeta_{1}a - a\zeta) \left(\theta\zeta_{1} + \zeta\theta \right) + \left(\theta a - a_{-1}\theta_{-1} + \zeta b - b\zeta \right) \zeta\zeta \right]$$

$$= \int \operatorname{Tr}\left(a\theta\zeta_{1}\zeta_{1} - a_{-1}\theta_{-1}\zeta\zeta \right) = \int \operatorname{Tr}\left((\mathcal{S} - 1)a_{-1}\theta_{-1}\zeta\zeta \right) = 0.$$

The Hamiltonian operator *H* of equation (2.5) is the local Hamiltonian structure of the nonabelian Toda system [16], presented in Section 3.3.

The formalism we have defined so far is tailored on *local* Hamiltonian operators. However, many of the local Hamiltonian structures which have been discovered in the commutative case are replaced, in the nonabelian setting, by nonlocal ones. For a given nonlocal operator, many of the routine computations needed to check whether it is Hamiltonian can be performed using the same technique as in the local case, relying on the properties of the integral and trace operations. For instance, if the nonlocal part of an operator is of form $F(S-1)^{-1}G$, with F and G multiplication operators, namely of the form $l_a r_b$, the new element is the introduction of *formal nonlocal variables*

$$\theta' := (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} G \theta;$$

the parity and properties of these new variables are the same as the ones for θ , but obviously we have the additional relation $(S - 1)\theta' = G\theta$. Some details about how to use these formal variables in the computations are provided in the proof of the following proposition.

Proposition 7. *The operator*

$$H = r_u S r_u - l_u S^{-1} l_u + r_u c_u - c_u (1 - S)^{-1} c_u$$
 (2.6)

is Hamiltonian.

Proof. We are in the scalar case, namely $\ell = 1$. We denote θ the basic density of uni-vectors corresponding to the generator u of \mathcal{A} .

We compute the expression for the Poisson condition as in (2.4), where P is the functional bivector defined in terms of the operator H. Moreover, for the sake of compactness, we will split operator and bivector in local and nonlocal part. Namely, we have

$$H\theta = H_L\theta + H_N\theta,$$

with

$$H_L\theta = \theta_1 u_1 u - u u_{-1} \theta_{-1} - u \theta u + \theta u^2$$

$$H_N\theta = (\rho - \lambda)u - u(\rho - \lambda).$$

We have introduced the nonlocal (densities of) uni-vectors

$$\rho = (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \theta u, \qquad \lambda = (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} u\theta$$

and denote $S^n \rho = \rho_n$, $S^n \lambda = \lambda_n$.

The bivector defined by H as $P = \frac{1}{2} \int \text{Tr } \theta H \theta$ is $P = P_L + P_N$ with

$$\begin{split} P_L &= \frac{1}{2} \int \operatorname{Tr} \theta \left(\theta_1 u_1 u - u u_{-1} \theta_{-1} - u \theta u + \theta u^2 \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int \operatorname{Tr} (\theta \theta_1 u_1 u - \theta u u_{-1} \theta_{-1} - \theta u \theta u + \theta \theta u^2) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int \operatorname{Tr} \left(2 u_1 u \theta \theta_1 + u^2 \theta \theta \right), \end{split}$$

where we have used the trace graded commutativity to conclude that $\text{Tr}(\theta u u_{-1}\theta_{-1}) = \text{Tr}(-u u_{-1}\theta_{-1}\theta)$ and $\text{Tr}(\theta u \theta u) = 0$, and $\int f = \int \mathcal{S}f$.

For the nonlocal part, we have

$$P_{N} = \frac{1}{2} \int \text{Tr} \left(\theta(\rho - \lambda)u - \theta u(\rho - \lambda) \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int \text{Tr} \left((\rho - \lambda)(\theta u - u\theta) \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int \text{Tr}(\rho - \lambda)(\rho_{1} - \lambda_{1}),$$

where the last passage follows from the observation that

$$\theta u - u\theta = (S - 1)\rho - (S - 1)\lambda = \rho_1 - \lambda_1 - \rho + \lambda,$$

$$\operatorname{Tr}((\rho - \lambda)(\lambda - \rho)) = 0.$$

The Hamiltonian condition for the operator $\mathbf{pr}_{H_1\theta}P = 0$ can be, for simplicity, computed in four parts

$$\mathbf{pr}_{H_1\theta}P = \mathbf{pr}_{H_I\theta}P_L + \mathbf{pr}_{H_N\theta}P_L + \mathbf{pr}_{H_I\theta}P_N + \mathbf{pr}_{H_N\theta}P_N.$$

The computation of $\mathbf{pr}_{H_L\theta}P_L$ is a straightforward application of the definition of evolutionary vector field; we use the graded commutativity on the terms we obtain to move "most" of the variables u's on the left. We have

$$2\mathbf{p}\mathbf{r}_{H_L\theta}P_L = \int \operatorname{Tr}\left(-4u_1u\theta u\theta\theta_1 + u_1^2u\theta\theta_1\theta_1 + u_1u^2\theta\theta\theta_1 + 2u^2\theta\theta_1u_1\theta_1\right) - uu_1\theta_{-1}u\theta\theta + u^3\theta\theta\theta + u_1u\theta\theta u\theta_1 - u^2\theta u\theta\theta\right). \quad (2.7)$$

Some subtler operation must be performed when dealing with expression including the nonlocal terms. First, we compute $\mathbf{pr}_{H_N\theta}P_L$ from the definition, and exploit the graded commutativity and the properties of the integral to collect the nonlocal term $(\rho - \lambda)$ in front of the expression. The straightforward application of the formula produces terms of the form $a(\rho_1 - \lambda_1)b$ that we replace with $a_{-1}(\rho - \lambda)b_{-1}$ thanks to the definition of the integral. Finally, expressions of the form $(\rho - \lambda)(a_{-1} - a)$ can be arranged as $[(S - 1)(\rho - \lambda)]a$, which is local.

We obtain

$$2\mathbf{p}\mathbf{r}_{H_N\theta}P_L = \int \operatorname{Tr}\left(2u_1u\theta u\theta\theta_1 - 2u^2\theta\theta_1u_1\theta + (\rho - \lambda)\left(2uu_{-1}\theta_{-1}\theta - 2\theta\theta_1u_1u + u^2\theta\theta - \theta\theta u^2\right)\right). (2.8)$$

To compute the expressions $\mathbf{pr}_{H_L\theta}P_N$ and $\mathbf{pr}_{H_L\theta}P_N$, we first examine how to compute the evolution of P_N along a generic vector v such that $\deg_\theta v = 1$. We have

$$2\mathbf{pr}_v P_N = \int \operatorname{Tr} \mathbf{pr}_v [(\rho - \lambda)(\rho_1 - \lambda_1)]$$

The formal evolutionary vector field \mathbf{pr}_v is a graded derivation; this fact, together with the graded commutativity, allows us to rewrite

$$2\mathbf{pr}_{v}P_{N} = \int \operatorname{Tr}\left[(\rho_{1} - \lambda_{1})\mathbf{pr}_{v}(\rho - \lambda) - (\rho - \lambda)\mathbf{pr}_{v}(\rho_{1} - \lambda_{1})\right]$$

$$= \int \operatorname{Tr}(\rho - \lambda)\mathbf{pr}_{v}((S^{-1} - S)(\rho - \lambda))$$

$$= \int \operatorname{Tr}(\rho - \lambda)\mathbf{pr}_{v}((1 + S^{-1})(u\theta - \theta u))$$

$$= \int \operatorname{Tr}(\rho - \lambda)(1 + S^{-1})\mathbf{pr}_{v}(u\theta - \theta u)$$

$$= \int \operatorname{Tr}\left[(2 + S - 1)(\rho - \lambda)\right]\mathbf{pr}_{v}(u\theta - \theta u)$$

$$= \int \operatorname{Tr}\left[(2 - \lambda)\mathbf{pr}_{v}(u\theta - \theta u) + (\theta u - u\theta)\mathbf{pr}_{v}(u\theta - \theta u)\right]$$

Using this formula to compute $\mathbf{pr}_{H_L\theta}P_N$ and $\mathbf{pr}_{H_N\theta}P_N$ we obtain

$$2\mathbf{pr}_{H_L\theta}P_N = \int \operatorname{Tr}\left[2(\rho - \lambda)\left(\theta u^2\theta - uu_{-1}\theta_{-1}\theta - u\theta u\theta - \theta u\theta u + \theta\theta u^2\right)\right.$$

$$- u_1u\theta\theta u\theta_1 - u^2u_{-1}\theta_{-1}\theta\theta + 2u^2\theta\theta u\theta - u^2\theta u\theta\theta$$

$$- u_1u^2\theta\theta\theta_1 + uu_{-1}\theta_{-1}u\theta\theta - u^3\theta\theta\theta + 2u_1u\theta u\theta\theta_1\right].$$

$$2\mathbf{pr}_{H_L\theta}P_N = \int \operatorname{Tr}\left[(a - \lambda)(2u\theta\theta u - \theta\theta u^2 - u^2\theta\theta)\right].$$

$$2\mathbf{pr}_{H_N\theta}P_N = \int \text{Tr}\left[(\rho - \lambda)(2u\theta\theta u - \theta\theta u^2 - u^2\theta\theta) - 2(\rho - \lambda)(\rho - \lambda)(\theta u - u\theta) \right]. \tag{2.10}$$

To deal with the "double non-local term" in (2.10) we first observe that $\int (S-1)AAA = \int (A_1A_1A_1 - AAA) = 0$ for any element A. Moreover, if we denote $A_1 - A = B$ we have

$$\int \text{Tr} ((B-A)(B-A)(B-A) - AAA) = \int \text{Tr}(B^3 + 3B^2A + 3A^2B) = 0,$$

so that we can replace in the integral and trace operation AAB with $-ABB - \frac{1}{3}BBB$. Performing this substitution for $A = \rho - \lambda$, $B = \theta u - u\theta$ we obtain

$$2\mathbf{p}\mathbf{r}_{H_N\theta}P_N = \int \text{Tr}\left[(\rho - \lambda)(2\theta u\theta u - 2\theta u^2\theta + 2u\theta u\theta - \theta\theta u^2 - u^2\theta\theta)\right]$$

$$+ 2u^2\theta u\theta\theta - 2u^2\theta\theta u\theta .$$
(2.11)

The summation of all the terms obtained in (2.7), (2.8), (2.9), and (2.11) gives

$$2\mathbf{p}\mathbf{r}_{H\theta}P = \int \operatorname{Tr}\left(u_1^2 u \theta \theta_1 \theta_1 - u^2 u_{-1} \theta_{-1} \theta \theta\right) = 0.$$

This proves that *H* is a Hamiltonian difference operator.

3. Integrable difference equations

We say that an evolutionary differential-difference system

$$\mathbf{u}_t = \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{u}_m, \mathbf{u}_{m+1}, \dots \mathbf{u}_n), \qquad m < n \in \mathbb{Z}, \ \mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{A}^l,$$
 (3.1)

is (Lax) *integrable* if one can associate to (3.1) a pair of linear operators

$$L = S - U(\mathbf{u}; \lambda), \qquad A = D_t - B(\mathbf{u}; \lambda),$$

which is conventionally called the Lax pair.

Here U, B are square matrices, whose entries are functions of the dependent variable \mathbf{u} and its shifts and certain rational (in some cases elliptic) functions of the spectral parameter λ , such that equation (3.1) is equivalent to the compatibility of of these operators

$$D_t(U) = S(B)U - UB. \tag{3.2}$$

The latter is often called a *Lax representation* of equation (3.1). Systems admitting a Lax representation can be solved via the spectral transform method [1, 2, 39].

Symmetries of an evolutionary equation are its compatible evolutionary flows. An integrable equation (3.1) has an infinite sequence of commuting symmetries

$$\mathbf{u}_{t_k} = \mathbf{F}^k, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N} \,, \tag{3.3}$$

which can be associated with a commutative algebra of linear operators

$$A^{t_k} = D_{t_k} - B^{t_k}(\mathbf{u}; \lambda), \qquad [A^{t_i}, A^{t_j}] = 0.$$

Operator A and equation (3.1) can be considered as members in the sequence of operators $\{A^{t_k}\}$ and symmetries (3.3) respectively, for particular values of k.

A recursion operator \mathcal{R} is a linear pseudo-difference operator mapping a symmetry of the evolutionary equation to a new symmetry. If the evolutionary equation is biHamiltonian and the first Hamiltonian structure is invertible, the operator

$$\mathcal{R} := H_2 H_1^{-1}$$

is a recursion operator, and $\mathbf{u}_{t_k} = \mathcal{R}^k \mathbf{u}_{t_0}$. We call \mathbf{u}_{t_0} the *seed* of the integrable hierarchy.

In this Section, we provide the Lax representation and then compute the recursion operator for the nonabelian Volterra and Toda systems, following the general procedure detailed in Section 3.1.

3.1. From the Lax representation to the recursion operator. In general, it is not easy to construct a recursion operator for a given integrable equation although we have the explicit formula for its definition. The difficulty lies in the nonlocality of the operators. The case of recursion operators with a special form for the nonlocal terms, called *weakly nonlocal* [31], has been widely investigated; see, for example, [15, 45].

If the Lax representation of an evolutionary equation is known, an amazingly simple approach to construct a recursion operator was proposed in [18] and later applied for lattice equations [7]. This idea can also be used for Lax pairs that are invariant under a reduction group [50, 21, 10]. In this case, we are able to construct recursion operators of form of rational difference operators [10].

The main idea to derive a recursion operator using a Lax representation is based on the fact that matrices $B^{t_k}(\mathbf{u}, \lambda)$ of the operators $A^{t_k} = D_{t_k} - B^{t_k}(\mathbf{u}, \lambda)$

corresponding to a hierarchy can be related as

$$B^{t_{k+1}}(\mathbf{u},\lambda) = \mu(\lambda)B^{t_k}(\mathbf{u},\lambda) + W^{t_k}(\mathbf{u},\lambda), \tag{3.4}$$

where $\mu(\lambda)$ is a rational (elliptic in the some cases, e.g., the Landau-Lifshitz equation) multiplier and $W^{t_k}(\mathbf{u},\lambda)$ is a rational matrix with a fixed (i.e. k independent) divisor of poles. If the system and its Lax representation is obtained as a result of a reduction with a reduction group G [33], then the multiplier $\mu(\lambda)$ is a primitive automorphic function [30] of a finite reduction group, or in the elliptic case is one of the generators of the G-invariant subring of the coordinate ring [12]. The matrix $W^{t_k}(\mathbf{u},\lambda)$ also depends on the dependent variables \mathbf{u} and its shifts.

The substitution of (3.4) in the Lax representation (3.2) results in

$$D_t(U) = \mu(\lambda)D_\tau(U) + S(W)U - UW, \tag{3.5}$$

where we denote $t_{k+1} = t$, $t_k = \tau$, and $W^{t_k} = W$. Equation (3.5) enables us to express the entries of the matrix W in terms of \mathbf{u} , \mathbf{u}_t , \mathbf{u}_τ and their S-shifts. It enables us to find a linear pseudo-difference operator R such that $\mathbf{u}_t = R(\mathbf{u}_\tau)$, i.e. a recursion operator for a differential-difference hierarchy of commuting symmetries. From this construction it follows that a matrix U and a multiplier $\mu(\lambda)$ defines a recursion operator completely and uniquely.

In Section 4.1 we present the detailed computation for the recursion operator of the Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensy lattice. Here we show the simpler procedure for the recursion operator of the Volterra chain, which is the simplest special case of the former. For other examples, we'll only present the corresponding forms of (3.4).

3.2. Nonabelian Volterra. The Nonabelian Volterra chain

$$u_t = u_1 u - u u_{-1} (3.6)$$

admits a Lax representation

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & u \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad B = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda^2 + u & \lambda u \\ -\lambda & u_{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Note that both U and B admit \mathbb{Z}_2 as a reduction group, suggesting the symmetry condition

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} B(-\lambda) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} = B(\lambda). \tag{3.7}$$

The ansatz for the auxiliary matrix B^t in terms of B^{τ} must then be of the form

$$\begin{split} B^t &= \lambda^2 B^\tau + W = \lambda^2 B^\tau + \lambda^2 W^{(2)} + \lambda W^{(1)} + W^{(0)} \\ &= \lambda^2 B^\tau + \lambda^2 \begin{pmatrix} e & 0 \\ 0 & f \end{pmatrix} + \lambda \begin{pmatrix} 0 & p \\ q & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} s & 0 \\ 0 & t \end{pmatrix}; \end{split}$$

the symmetry of the matrices $W^{(s)}$ is determined by condition (3.7). From (3.5), we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & u_t \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \lambda^2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u_\tau \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{S}(W)U - UW,$$

which leads to the system of equations (here $p_1 = Sp$)

$$\lambda^{2}$$
: $0 = e_{1} - e$
 $0 = -f_{1} + q_{1}$
 $u_{\tau} = p + uf - e_{1}u$
 λ^{1} : $0 = s_{1} - s - uq - p_{1}$
 $0 = q_{1}u + p$
 λ^{0} : $0 = -t_{1} + s$
 $u_{t} = s_{1}u - ut$

The first equation implies that e must be a constant, that we set equal to 0. Our aim is to obtain the operator \Re such that $u_t = \Re u_\tau$.

The system can be solved observing that

$$u_t = (\mathbf{r}_u \mathcal{S} - \mathbf{l}_u \mathcal{S}^{-1})s,$$

$$(\mathcal{S} - 1)s = (\mathbf{l}_u - \mathcal{S}\mathbf{r}_u \mathcal{S})q,$$

$$(\mathbf{l}_u - \mathbf{r}_u \mathcal{S})q = u_\tau,$$

from which the recursion operator reads

$$\mathfrak{R} = (r_u S - l_u S^{-1}) (S - 1)^{-1} (l_u - S r_u S) (l_u - r_u S)^{-1}.$$
(3.8)

The nonabelian Volterra chain is Hamiltonian with respect to the Hamiltonian difference operator (2.6) and the Hamiltonian functional

$$h_0 = \int \operatorname{Tr} u. \tag{3.9}$$

3.3. Nonabelian Toda. The Nonabelian Toda system

$$\begin{cases} a_t = b_1 a - ab \\ b_t = a - a_{-1} \end{cases}$$
 (3.10)

is Hamiltonian with respect to the Hamiltonian difference operator (cf. (2.5))

$$H_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathbf{r}_a \mathcal{S} - \mathbf{l}_a \\ \mathbf{r}_a - \mathbf{l}_{a-1} \mathcal{S}^{-1} & \mathbf{r}_b - \mathbf{l}_b \end{pmatrix}$$

and the Hamiltonian functional

$$h_0 = \int \text{Tr}\left(a + \frac{1}{2}b^2\right).$$

System (3.10) admits a Lax pair representation given by

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda + b_1 & a \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad B = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -a \\ 1 & \lambda + b \end{pmatrix}.$$

Take as the ansatz

$$B^t = \lambda B^{\tau} + \lambda W^{(1)} + W^{(0)}$$

with $W^{(1)}$ and $W^{(0)}$ generic 2 × 2 matrices; using (3.5), we get the recursion operator $\mathfrak R$ for the system

$$\mathfrak{R} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{l}_{b_1} \mathbf{r}_a \mathcal{S} - \mathbf{l}_a \mathbf{r}_b & \mathbf{r}_a \mathcal{S}^2 - \mathbf{l}_a \\ \mathbf{r}_a \mathcal{S} - \mathbf{l}_{a_{-1}} \mathcal{S}^{-1} & \mathbf{r}_b \mathcal{S} - \mathbf{l}_b \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} (\mathbf{l}_a - \mathbf{r}_a \mathcal{S})^{-1} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & (1 - \mathcal{S})^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

The second Hamiltonian structure H_2 , obtained by $H_2 = \Re H_1$, is given by a matrix with the following entries [29]:

$$(H_2)_{11} = l_a S^{-1} l_a - r_a S r_a - r_a c_a + c_a (1 - S)^{-1} c_a$$

$$(H_2)_{12} = l_a r_b - r_a c_b - r_a S r_b + c_a (1 - S)^{-1} c_b$$

$$(H_2)_{21} = -r_{ab} + l_b S^{-1} l_a + c_b (1 - S)^{-1} c_a$$

$$(H_2)_{22} = S^{-1} l_a - r_a S - r_b c_b + c_b (1 - S)^{-1} c_b.$$

The system (3.10) is Hamiltonian with respect to H_2 and the Hamiltonian functional $h_{-1} = -\int \text{Tr } b$, which is a Casimir of H_1 . Moreover, the constant change of coordinates $b \mapsto b + \eta$ induces for H_2 the transformation

$$H_2 \mapsto H_2 - \eta H_1$$
.

This means that (H_1, H_2) form a biHamiltonian pair.

Note 8. The nonabelian two-component Volterra equation

$$\begin{cases} u_t = v_1 u - uv \\ v_t = uv - vu_{-1} \end{cases}$$

can be obtained from Volterra chain $w_t = w_1w - ww_{-1}$ introducing u and v as the even and odd elements of the lattice u(n,t) := w(2n,t), v(n,t) := w(2n-1,t), or from the Toda lattice with the Miura transformation

$$a = uv b = u_{-1} + v.$$

A Lax pair for the system is

$$L = \lambda \mathcal{S} - u - v_1 + \lambda^{-1} u v \mathcal{S}^{-1}; \qquad A = \lambda^{-1} u v \mathcal{S}^{-1}.$$

4. Integrable nonabelian Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice

In this section, we consider a family of nonabelian differential difference equations (1.1). It is the nonabelian version of the Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice [8, 38, 20] known as an integrable discretisation for the Korteweg-de Vries equation:

$$u_t = u \sum_{k=1}^{p} (u_k - u_{-k}). \tag{4.1}$$

For the Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice of arbitrary $p \in \mathbb{N}$, its recursion operator and Hamiltonian structures have been extensively studied in [51]. Note that for p=1 the equation reduces to the equation for the Volterra chain (see Section 3.2). Remarkably there are explicit expressions for all its symmetries. In this section, we show that the method used for the commutative case can be extended to the nonabelian case in a straightforward manner. We are going to present their recursion operators and to prove that these operators generate local symmetries.

4.1. **Construction of recursion operators.** In this section, we use the ideas presented in Section 3.1 to construct a recursion operator of system (1.1) from its Lax representation.

The Lax operator of (1.1) for any $p \in \mathbb{N}$ is given in [8] as follows:

$$L = S + uS^{-p} . (4.2)$$

We can compute its hierarchy of symmetry flows using the formula

$$L_{t_k} = [B^{(k)}, L], \qquad B^{(k)} = (L^{(p+1)k})_{\geq 0},$$

where ≥ 0 means taking the terms with non-negative power of S in $L^{(p+1)k}$. We rewrite (4.2) into the following matrix form

$$L(\lambda) = S - \lambda U^{(0)} - U^{(1)} := S - C(\lambda),$$
 (4.3)

where $U^{(0)} = (u_{i,j}^{(0)})$ and $U^{(1)} = (u_{i,j}^{(1)})$ are $(p+1) \times (p+1)$ matrices. The matrices $U^{(0)}$ and $U^{(1)}$ are given by

$$U^{(0)} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad U^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & -u \\ 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

respectively, that is, their non-zero entries are

$$u_{11}^{(0)} = 1$$
, $u_{1,p+1}^{(1)} = -u$ and $u_{i+1,i}^{(1)} = 1$, $i = 1, 2, \dots, p$.

We rewrite the operator B in a matrix form denoted by $B(\lambda)$, so that the symmetry flows can be obtained by the zero curvature equation

$$C(\lambda)_t = \mathcal{S}(B(\lambda)) C(\lambda) - C(\lambda)B(\lambda). \tag{4.4}$$

Make the Ansatz

$$\bar{B}(\lambda) = \lambda^{p+1}B(\lambda) + W(\lambda), \quad \text{where} \quad W(\lambda) = \sum_{i=0}^{p+1} \lambda^{p+1-i}A^{(i)}, \quad (4.5)$$

where $A^{(i)} = (a_{kl}^{(i)})$ are $(p+1) \times (p+1)$ matrices with the only non-zero entries being $a_{j+i,j}^{(i)}$ for $1 \le j \le p+1$. Here we read i+j as $(i+j) \mod (p+1)$. For simplicity, we shall continue to denote the index l when l > p+1 instead of $l \mod (p+1)$. So both $A^{(0)}$ and $A^{(p+1)}$ are diagonal matrices.

The Ansatz W is invariant under the following transformation

$$r: W(\lambda) \mapsto PW(\sigma\lambda)P^{-1}$$
,

where *P* is a diagonal $(p+1)\times(p+1)$ matrix given by $P_{ii}=\sigma^i$ and $\sigma=e^{2\pi i/(p+1)}$ since we have $P^{-1}A^{(i)}P=\sigma^iA^{(i)}$. The transformation satisfies $r^{p+1}=id$.

The zero curvature condition (4.4) for $\bar{B}(\lambda)$ leads to a formula for computing a recursion operator as follows:

$$C_{t_{n+1}} = \mathcal{S}(\bar{B}(\lambda)) C(\lambda) - C(\lambda)\bar{B}(\lambda) = \lambda^{p+1}C_{t_n} + \mathcal{S}(W)C - CW. \tag{4.6}$$

Substituting (4.3) and (4.5) into (4.6) and collecting the coefficients of this λ -polynomial, we obtain

$$\lambda^{p+2}: \quad S(A^{(0)})U^{(0)} - U^{(0)}A^{(0)} = 0; \tag{4.7}$$

$$\lambda^{p+1}: \quad U_{t_n}^{(1)} + \mathcal{S}(A^{(1)})U^{(0)} - U^{(0)}A^{(1)} + \mathcal{S}(A^{(0)})U^{(1)} - U^{(1)}A^{(0)} = 0; \quad (4.8)$$

$$\lambda^{p+1-i}: \mathcal{S}(A^{(i+1)})U^{(0)} - U^{(0)}A^{(i+1)} + \mathcal{S}(A^{(i)})U^{(1)} - U^{(1)}A^{(i)} = 0, 1 \le i \le p;$$

$$\lambda^{0}: \qquad U_{t_{n+1}}^{(1)} = \mathcal{S}(A^{(p+1)})U^{(1)} - U^{(1)}A^{(p+1)}. \tag{4.9}$$

Lemma 9. Assume that $p \ge 2$ and $1 \le i \le p-1$. The matrix equations

$$S(A^{(i+1)})U^{(0)} - U^{(0)}A^{(i+1)} + S(A^{(i)})U^{(1)} - U^{(1)}A^{(i)} = 0$$
(4.10)

are equivalent to

$$S(a_{i+2,1}^{(i+1)}) + S(a_{i+2,2}^{(i)}) - a_{1+i,1}^{(i)} = 0;$$
(4.11)

$$-a_{1,p+1-i}^{(i+1)} + S(a_{1,p+2-i}^{(i)}) + 1_{u}a_{p+1,p+1-i}^{(i)} = 0;$$
(4.12)

$$- r_u S(a_{i+1,1}^{(i)}) - a_{i,p+1}^{(i)} = 0;$$
(4.13)

$$S(a_{l+i+1,l+1}^{(i)}) - a_{l+i,l}^{(i)} = 0, \quad 2 \le l \le p, \quad l \ne p+1-i.$$
 (4.14)

Proof. . We directly compute the multiplications of matrices and write out their non-zero entries, respectively:

$$\begin{split} &(\mathcal{S}(A^{(i+1)})U^{(0)})_{i+2,1} = \mathcal{S}(a^{(i+1)}_{i+2,1})u^{(0)}_{11} = \mathcal{S}(a^{(i+1)}_{i+2,1});\\ &(U^{(0)}A^{(i+1)})_{1,p+1-i} = u^{(0)}_{11}a^{(i+1)}_{1,p+1-i} = a^{(i+1)}_{1,p+1-i};\\ &(\mathcal{S}(A^{(i)})U^{(1)})_{i+1,p+1} = \mathcal{S}(a^{(i)}_{i+1,1})u^{(1)}_{1,p+1} = -\mathbf{r}_{u}\mathcal{S}(a^{(i)}_{i+1,1});\\ &(\mathcal{S}(A^{(i)})U^{(1)})_{l+i+1,l} = \mathcal{S}(a^{(i)}_{l+i+1,l+1})u^{(1)}_{l+1,l} = \mathcal{S}(a^{(i)}_{l+i+1,l+1}), \quad 1 \leqslant l \leqslant p;\\ &(U^{(1)}A^{(i)})_{1,p+1-i} = u^{(1)}_{1,p+1}a^{(i)}_{p+1,p+1-i} = -\mathbf{l}_{u}a^{(i)}_{p+1,p+1-i};\\ &(U^{(1)}A^{(i)})_{l+i+1,l} = u^{(1)}_{l+i+1,l+i}a^{(i)}_{l+i,l} = a^{(i)}_{l+i,l}, \quad 1 \leqslant l \leqslant p+1, \quad l \neq p+1-i; \end{split}$$

We are now ready to write out the entries for the matrix equations, which leads to the formulas stated in the lemma.

Specifically, when i = 0, using the proof of Lemma 9 we obtain the equivalent conditions for the matrix equation (4.10) as follows:

$$S(a_{2,1}^{(1)}) + S(a_{2,2}^{(0)}) - a_{1,1}^{(0)} = 0;$$
 (4.15)

$$-a_{1,p+1}^{(1)} + \mathcal{S}(a_{1,1}^{(0)}) + 1_u a_{p+1,p+1}^{(0)} = 0; \tag{4.16}$$

$$S(a_{l+1,l+1}^{(0)}) - a_{l,l}^{(0)} = 0, \quad 2 \le l \le p.$$
 (4.17)

In the similar way, the matrix equation (4.10) for i = p is equivalent to

$$S(a_{1.1}^{(p+1)}) - a_{1.1}^{(p+1)} + S(a_{1.2}^{(p)}) + l_u a_{\nu+1.1}^{(p)} = 0;$$
(4.18)

$$-r_{u}S(a_{\nu+1,1}^{(p)}) - a_{\nu,\nu+1}^{(p)} = 0; (4.19)$$

$$S(a_{l,l+1}^{(p)}) - a_{l-1,l}^{(p)} = 0, \quad 2 \le l \le p.$$
 (4.20)

Notice that formula (4.15), (4.16), (4.18) and (4.19) are valid for p = 1.

Using formula (4.11)–(4.14) in Lemma 9, we can now find the relation between $a_{i+2,1}^{(i+1)}$ and $a_{i+1,1}^{(i)}$.

Lemma 10. Assume that $p \ge 2$ and $1 \le i \le p-1$. We have

$$a_{i+2,1}^{(i+1)} = S^{-1}(S^{i}\mathbf{r}_{u} - \mathbf{l}_{u}S^{i-p})^{-1}(S^{i}\mathbf{r}_{u} - \mathbf{l}_{u}S^{i-p-1})S(a_{i+1,1}^{(i)}).$$
(4.21)

Proof. First using formula (4.14), we can show that

$$a_{1,p+2-i}^{(i)} = \mathcal{S}^{i-1}(a_{i,p+1}^{(i)}). \tag{4.22}$$

Indeed, if we take l = p + 2 - i + r in (4.14), it follows that

$$a_{1+r,p+2-i+r}^{(i)} = \mathcal{S}(a_{2+r,p+3-i+r}^{(i)}), \quad 0 \leq r \leq i-2.$$

Thus we recursively obtain (4.22), that is,

$$a_{1,p+2-i}^{(i)} = \mathcal{S}(a_{2,p+3-i}^{(i)}) = \dots = \mathcal{S}^{i-1}(a_{i,p+1}^{(i)}).$$

From (4.13), it leads to $a_{i,p+1}^{(i)} = -\mathbf{r}_u \mathcal{S}(a_{i+1,1}^{(i)})$. Substituting it into to (4.22), we get

$$a_{1,n+2-i}^{(i)} = -S^{i-1}\mathbf{r}_{u}S(a_{i+1,1}^{(i)}). \tag{4.23}$$

Similar as the proof of (4.22), by taking l = 2 + r, where $0 \le r \le p - 2 - i$ in (4.14) when $p \ge 2$, we recursively show that

$$a_{2+i,2}^{(i)} = \mathcal{S}(a_{3+i,3}^{(i)}) = \dots = \mathcal{S}^{p-1-i}(a_{p+1,p+1-i}^{(i)}).$$
 (4.24)

Now we substitute (4.24) into (4.11) and it leads to

$$S(a_{i+2,1}^{(i+1)}) + S^{p-i}(a_{v+1,v+1-i}^{(i)}) - a_{1+i,1}^{(i)} = 0.$$
(4.25)

Formula (4.23) is valid for different values of $1 \le i \le p-1$. Thus we have $a_{1,p+1-i}^{(i+1)} = -S^i \mathbf{r}_u S(a_{i+2,1}^{(i+1)})$. We substitute it and (4.23) into (4.12) and it becomes

$$S^{i}\mathbf{r}_{u}S(a_{i+2,1}^{(i+1)}) - S^{i}\mathbf{r}_{u}S(a_{i+1,1}^{(i)}) + \mathbf{1}_{u}a_{p+1,p+1-i}^{(i)} = 0.$$
(4.26)

From (4.25) and (4.26), we eliminate $a_{p+1,p+1-i}^{(i)}$ and obtain the relation between $a_{i+2,1}^{(i+1)}$ and $a_{i+1,1}^{(i)}$, that is,

$$a_{i+2,1}^{(i+1)} = (S^{i} \mathbf{r}_{u} S - \mathbf{l}_{u} S^{i+1-p})^{-1} (S^{i} \mathbf{r}_{u} S - \mathbf{l}_{u} S^{i-p}) (a_{i+1,1}^{(i)}),$$

which is equivalent to (4.21) as written in this lemma.

From (4.19)) and (4.20), we can see that (4.23) is also valid for i = p. Substituting it into (4.18), we obtain

$$(S-1)a_{1,1}^{(p+1)} = -S(a_{1,2}^{(p)}) - l_u a_{\nu+1,1}^{(p)} = (S^p r_u S - l_u)(a_{\nu+1,1}^{(p)}).$$

Therefore,

$$a_{1,1}^{(p+1)} = (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} (\mathcal{S}^p \mathbf{r}_u - \mathbf{l}_u \mathcal{S}^{-1}) \mathcal{S}(a_{p+1,1}^{(p)}). \tag{4.27}$$

We are now ready to compute the recursion operators for any $p \in \mathbb{N}$.

Theorem 11. A recursion operator of Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice (1.1) is

$$\mathfrak{R} = (\mathbf{r}_u \mathcal{S} - \mathbf{l}_u \mathcal{S}^{-p})(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \prod_{i=1}^{p} (\mathcal{S}^{p+1-i} \mathbf{r}_u - \mathbf{l}_u \mathcal{S}^{-i})(\mathcal{S}^{p-i} \mathbf{r}_u - \mathbf{l}_u \mathcal{S}^{-i})^{-1} . \quad (4.28)$$

Since the difference operators are not commuting, here we use the notation $\prod_{i=1}^{\rightarrow p}$ to denote the order of the value i, from 1 to p, that is, $\prod_{i=1}^{\rightarrow p} a_i = a_1 a_2 \cdots a_p$ and $\prod_{i=1}^{\leftarrow p} a_i = a_p a_{p-1} \cdots a_1$. Later we use the same notation for difference polynomials.

Proof. First from (4.17), we can show that

$$a_{ll}^{(0)} = S^{p+1-l}(a_{\nu+1,\nu+1}^{(0)}), \quad 2 \le l \le p+1.$$
 (4.29)

The next identity (4.7)) leads to $(S-1)a_{11}^{(0)}=0$. Here we choose the solution $a_{11}^{(0)}=0$, which makes it possible to find the relation between $u_{t_{n+1}}$ and u_{t_n} . We now substitute this into (4.15) and using (4.29) we obtain

$$a_{2,1}^{(1)} = -a_{2,2}^{(0)} = -\mathcal{S}^{p-1}(a_{p+1,p+1}^{(0)}).$$
 (4.30)

It follows from (4.8) and (4.16) that

$$-u_{t_n} - a_{1,p+1}^{(1)} + l_u a_{p+1,p+1}^{(0)} = 0.$$

We now show that $a_{1,p+1}^{(1)} = -u\mathcal{S}(a_{2,1}^{(1)})$ for all $p \in \mathbb{N}$. When $p \ge 2$, we have $a_{1,p+1}^{(1)} = -\mathbf{r}_u \mathcal{S}(a_{2,1}^{(1)})$ by taking i = 1 in (4.13). With p = 1, this is a result from (4.19). Therefore for all $p \in \mathbb{N}$, using (4.30) we have $a_{1,p+1}^{(1)} = r_u S^p(a_{p+1,p+1}^{(0)})$. This leads to

$$u_{t_n} + (\mathbf{r}_u S^p - \mathbf{l}_u) a_{p+1,p+1}^{(0)} = 0.$$

Therefore, we have
$$a_{p+1,p+1}^{(0)} = (\mathbf{l}_u - \mathbf{r}_u S^p)^{-1} u_{t_n}. \tag{4.31}$$
 Form (4.9), we find that

$$\begin{cases} -u_{t_{n+1}} = -\mathbf{r}_{u} \mathcal{S}(a_{1,1}^{(p+1)}) + \mathbf{1}_{u} a_{p+1,p+1}^{(p+1)}; \\ \mathcal{S}(a_{l+1,l+1}^{(p+1)}) = a_{l,l}^{(p+1)}, \quad 1 \leq l \leq p. \end{cases}$$

This implies that

$$u_{t_{n+1}} = (\mathbf{r}_u \mathcal{S} - \mathbf{l}_u \mathcal{S}^{-p})(a_{1,1}^{(p+1)}).$$

Using (4.27) we rewrite it as

$$u_{t_{n+1}} = (\mathbf{r}_u \mathcal{S} - \mathbf{l}_u \mathcal{S}^{-p})(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} (\mathcal{S}^p \mathbf{r}_u - \mathbf{l}_u \mathcal{S}^{-1}) \mathcal{S}(a_{p+1,1}^{(p)}).$$

Using Lemma 10 when $p \ge 2$, we obtain

$$u_{t_{n+1}} = (\mathbf{r}_u S - \mathbf{l}_u S^{-p})(S - 1)^{-1} (S^p \mathbf{r}_u - \mathbf{l}_u S^{-1}) \prod_{i=1}^{\rightarrow (p-1)} (S^{p-i} \mathbf{r}_u - \mathbf{l}_u S^{-i})^{-1} (S^{p-i} \mathbf{r}_u - \mathbf{l}_u S^{-i-1}) S(a_{2,1}^{(1)}).$$

This is also valid for p = 1 under the convention that the empty product is equal to 1. Finally, using (4.30) and (4.31), we get the relation between $u_{t_{n+1}}$ and u_{t_n} , which gives rise to the recursion operator as stated in this theorem.

When p = 1, it follows from Theorem 11 that

$$\Re = (r_u S - l_u S^{-1})(S - 1)^{-1} (S r_u - l_u S^{-1})(r_u - l_u S^{-1})^{-1},$$

which is the recursion operator for the Nonabelian Volterra chain we have already computed in Section 3.2 (compare with (3.8)).

4.2. **Locality of symmetries.** The recursion operators we have obtained in Theorem 11 have nonlocal terms. One important question is whether the operator is guaranteed to generate local symmetries starting from a proper seed. Sufficient conditions for weakly nonlocal Nijenhuis differential operators are formulated in [45, 46], which are also valid for weakly nonlocal Nijenhuis difference operators [36]. This result is generalised to Nijenhuis operators, which are the product of weakly nonlocal Hamiltonian and symplectic operators [50]. However, the recursion operator given in Theorem 11 is not weakly nonlocal. In this section, we are going to directly prove the locality of symmetries by induction.

To do so, we first introduce a family of homogeneous difference polynomials of degree l with respect to the dependent variable u and its shifts

$$\mathcal{P}^{(l,k)} = \sum_{0 \le \lambda_{l-1} \le \dots \le \lambda_0 \le k} \left(\prod_{j=0}^{\leftarrow (l-1)} u_{\lambda_j + jp} \right), \tag{4.32}$$

where $k \ge 0, l \ge 1$ and $p \ge 1$ are all integers. In particular, for any $p \in \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$\mathcal{P}^{(1,k)} = \sum_{j=0}^{k} u_j$$
 and $\mathcal{P}^{(l,0)} = u_{(l-1)p} u_{(l-2)p} \cdots u_p u$.

Equation (1.1) can be written in terms of these polynomials as follows:

$$u_t = (\mathbf{r}_u S - \mathbf{l}_u S^{-p}) \mathcal{P}^{(1,p-1)}.$$
 (4.33)

This family of polynomials was first defined in [48], where the author amazingly gave the explicit expressions for the hierarchy of symmetries of equation (1.1) in terms of it. We are going to show that the recursion operator (4.28) generates the same symmetries as in this paper modulo a sign.

It is easy to see that the polynomials (4.32) possess the following properties [48, 49]:

$$\mathcal{P}^{(l,k)} - \mathcal{P}^{(l,k-1)} = r_{u_k} S^p(\mathcal{P}^{(l-1,k)}); \tag{4.34}$$

$$\mathcal{P}^{(l,k)} - \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{P}^{(l,k-1)}) = 1_{u_{(l-1)p}} \mathcal{P}^{(l-1,k)}. \tag{4.35}$$

These immediately lead to

$$(S-1)\mathcal{P}^{(l,k)} = \left(Sr_{u_k}S^p - 1_{u_{(l-1)p}}\right)\mathcal{P}^{(l-1,k)}.$$
(4.36)

We now prove another important property.

Proposition 12. *For all* $l, p \in \mathbb{N}$ *, we have*

$$(S^{p-i}\mathbf{r}_{u}-\mathbf{l}_{u}S^{-i})S^{-lp+i}\mathcal{P}^{(l,(l+1)p-i)} = (S^{p-i}\mathbf{r}_{u}-\mathbf{l}_{u}S^{-(i+1)})S^{-lp+i+1}\mathcal{P}^{(l,(l+1)p-i-1)}, \ 0 \le i \le p.$$

$$(4.37)$$

Proof. Let us compute the difference between the left-hand side and the right-hand side of the identity (4.37) using the properties (4.34) and (4.35):

$$\begin{split} & (\mathcal{S}^{p-i}\mathbf{r}_{u} - \mathbf{l}_{u}\mathcal{S}^{-i})\mathcal{S}^{-lp+i}\mathcal{P}^{(l,(l+1)p-i)} - (\mathcal{S}^{p-i}\mathbf{r}_{u} - \mathbf{l}_{u}\mathcal{S}^{-(i+1)})\mathcal{S}^{-lp+i+1}\mathcal{P}^{(l,(l+1)p-i-1)} \\ &= \mathbf{r}_{u_{p-i}}\mathcal{S}^{-lp+p}\left(\mathcal{P}^{(l,(l+1)p-i)} - \mathcal{S}\mathcal{P}^{(l,(l+1)p-i-1)}\right) - \mathbf{l}_{u}\mathcal{S}^{-lp}\left(\mathcal{P}^{(l,(l+1)p-i)} - \mathcal{P}^{(l,(l+1)p-i-1)}\right) \\ &= \mathbf{r}_{u_{p-i}}\mathcal{S}^{-lp+p}\left(\mathbf{l}_{u_{(l-1)p}}\mathcal{P}^{(l-1,(l+1)p-i)}\right) - \mathbf{l}_{u}\mathcal{S}^{-lp}\left(\mathbf{r}_{u_{(l+1)p-i}}\mathcal{S}^{p}\mathcal{P}^{(l-1,(l+1)p-i)}\right) \\ &= \mathbf{r}_{u_{p-i}}\mathbf{l}_{u}\mathcal{S}^{-lp+p}\mathcal{P}^{(l-1,(l+1)p-i)} - \mathbf{l}_{u}\mathbf{r}_{u_{p-i}}\mathcal{S}^{-lp+p}\mathcal{P}^{(l-1,(l+1)p-i)} = 0. \end{split}$$

We proved the statement.

Notice that we can rewrite the recursion operator (4.28) in the form

$$\mathfrak{R} = (\mathbf{r}_{u} \mathcal{S} - \mathbf{l}_{u} \mathcal{S}^{-p})(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} (\mathcal{S}^{p} \mathbf{r}_{u} - \mathbf{l}_{u} \mathcal{S}^{-1}) \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{\rightarrow (p-1)} (\mathcal{S}^{p-i} \mathbf{r}_{u} - \mathbf{l}_{u} \mathcal{S}^{-i})^{-1} (\mathcal{S}^{p-i} \mathbf{r}_{u} - \mathbf{l}_{u} \mathcal{S}^{-(i+1)})$$

$$\cdot (\mathbf{r}_{u} - \mathbf{l}_{u} \mathcal{S}^{-p})^{-1} . \tag{4.38}$$

Using it, we are able to prove the following result:

Theorem 13. For Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice (1.1), starting from the equation itself, its symmetries $Q^l = \mathfrak{R}^l(u_t)$ generated by recursion operator (4.28) are local and

$$Q^l = \Re^l(u_t) = (\mathbf{r}_u \mathcal{S} - \mathbf{l}_u \mathcal{S}^{-p}) \mathcal{S}^{-lp} \mathcal{P}^{(l+1,(l+1)p-1)} \quad \textit{for all} \quad 0 \leq l \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

Proof. First the statement is clearly true for l = 0 from (4.33). Assume the statement is true for $l - 1 \ge 0$. Let us compute the next symmetry Q^l . Taking i = p in (4.37) and using the induction assumption, we have

$$(r_u - \mathrm{l}_u \mathcal{S}^{-p}) \mathcal{S}^{-lp+p} \mathcal{P}^{(l,lp)} = (\mathrm{r}_u - \mathrm{l}_u \mathcal{S}^{-(p+1)}) \mathcal{S}^{-lp+p+1} \mathcal{P}^{(l,lp-1)} = Q^{l-1}.$$

Hence

$$Q^{l} = \Re(Q^{l-1}) = (\mathbf{r}_{u}S - \mathbf{l}_{u}S^{-p})(S - 1)^{-1}(S^{p}\mathbf{r}_{u} - \mathbf{l}_{u}S^{-1})$$

$$\cdot \prod_{i=1}^{p-1} (S^{p-i}\mathbf{r}_{u} - \mathbf{l}_{u}S^{-i})^{-1}(S^{p-i}\mathbf{r}_{u} - \mathbf{l}_{u}S^{-(i+1)}) \cdot S^{-lp+p}\mathcal{P}^{(l,lp)},$$

where we used formula (4.38). We now recursively apply formula (4.37) for i from p-1 to 1 and obtain

$$\begin{split} &Q^{l} = \Re(Q^{l-1}) = (\mathbf{r}_{u}S - \mathbf{l}_{u}S^{-p})(S-1)^{-1}(S^{p}\mathbf{r}_{u} - \mathbf{l}_{u}S^{-1})S^{-lp+1}\mathcal{P}^{(l,lp+p-1)} \\ &= (\mathbf{r}_{u}S - \mathbf{l}_{u}S^{-p})(S-1)^{-1}\left(\mathbf{r}_{u_{p}}S^{-lp+p+1}\mathcal{P}^{(l,lp+p-1)} - \mathbf{l}_{u}S^{-lp}\mathcal{P}^{(l,lp+p-1)}\right) \\ &= (\mathbf{r}_{u}S - \mathbf{l}_{u}S^{-p})S^{-lp}(S-1)^{-1}\left(\mathbf{r}_{u_{(l+1)p}}S^{p+1}\mathcal{P}^{(l,(l+1)p-1)} - \mathbf{l}_{u_{lp}}\mathcal{P}^{(l,(l+1)p-1)}\right) \\ &= (\mathbf{r}_{u}S - \mathbf{l}_{u}S^{-p})S^{-lp}\mathcal{P}^{(l+1,(l+1)p-1)}. \end{split}$$

Here we used formula (4.36) for *l* being l + 1 and *k* being (l + 1)p - 1, that is,

$$(\mathcal{S}-1)\mathcal{P}^{(l+1,(l+1)p-1)} = \mathbf{r}_{u_{(l+1)p}}\mathcal{S}^{p+1}(\mathcal{P}^{(l,(l+1)p-1)}) - \mathbf{l}_{u_{lp}}\mathcal{P}^{(l,(l+1)p-1)}.$$

We completed the induction proof of the statement.

4.3. **Hamiltonian structure.** The Volterra chain (see Section 3.2) is a special case of Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice for p = 1. The Hamiltonian formulation of Volterra chain is given by equations (2.6) and (3.9). The natural generalisation to the generic case p > 1 is

$$H = r_u \sum_{i=1}^{p} S^i r_u - l_u \sum_{i=1}^{p} S^{-i} l_u + r_u c_u + c_u (S - 1)^{-1} c_u.$$
 (4.39)

Theorem 14. The operator H defined in (4.39) is Hamiltonian. It produces the Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice equation for the Hamiltonian functional

$$h = \int \operatorname{Tr} u.$$

Proof. The theorem is made of two statements. The second one is a straightforward computation. We have

$$u_t = H\frac{\delta h}{\delta u} = H(1) = \sum_{i=1}^{p} (u_i u - u u_{-i})$$

The first statement is proved by induction. Let us denote H_p the operator (4.39) when the upper bound of the sums is p. We have proved in Proposition 7 that H_1 is Hamiltonian. We show here that, if H_{p-1} is Hamiltonian, $H_p = \mathbf{r}_u S^p \mathbf{r}_u - \mathbf{l}_u S^{-p} \mathbf{l}_u + H_{p-1}$ is Hamiltonian too. For simplicity we denote $H^p = H_p - H_{p-1}$ the added terms, and use

$$\begin{split} P^p &= \int \operatorname{Tr} u_p u \theta \theta_p, \\ P_{p-1} &= \frac{1}{2} \int \operatorname{Tr} \left(2 \sum_{k=1}^{p-1} u_k u \theta \theta_k + u^2 \theta \theta + (\rho - \lambda)(\rho_1 - \lambda_1) \right), \\ P_p &= P^p + P_{p-1} \end{split}$$

for the corresponding bivectors. In the remaining part of the proof, we will omit the summation symbol and adopt the convention that any expression including k is summed for k = 1, ..., p - 1.

The Hamiltonian condition reads

$$\mathbf{pr}_{H_p\theta}(P_p) = \mathbf{pr}_{H^p\theta}P^p + \mathbf{pr}_{H_{p-1}\theta}P^p + \mathbf{pr}_{H^p\theta}P_{p-1} + \mathbf{pr}_{H_{p-1}\theta}P_{p-1}$$
$$= \mathbf{pr}_{H^p\theta}P^p + \mathbf{pr}_{H_{p-1}\theta}P^p + \mathbf{pr}_{H^p\theta}P_{p-1} = 0,$$

where we have dropped the last term because of the inductive hypothesis. The computation of each term follows the lines of the aforementioned proof of Proposition 7. Observe that the nonlocal terms are present only in H_0

and are the same as in (2.6). For each of the summands we obtain

$$\mathbf{pr}_{H^{p}\theta}(P^{p}) = \int \operatorname{Tr}\left(u_{p}u\theta\theta_{p}u_{p}\theta_{p} - u_{p}u\theta u\theta\theta_{p}\right),$$

$$\mathbf{pr}_{H_{p-1}\theta}(P^{p}) = \int \operatorname{Tr}\left(u_{k+p}u_{p}u\theta\theta_{p}\theta_{p+k} + u_{p}^{2}u\theta\theta_{p}\theta_{p} - u_{p}uu_{-k}\theta_{-k}\theta\theta_{p}\right)$$

$$+ u_{k}u\theta\theta_{p}u_{p}\theta_{k} - u_{p}u\theta\theta_{p}u_{p}\theta_{p} - u_{p}u_{p-k}\theta_{p-k}u\theta\theta_{p}$$

$$- u_{p}u\theta u\theta\theta_{p} + u^{2}\theta\theta_{p}u_{p}\theta$$

$$+ (\rho - \lambda)(uu_{-p}\theta_{-p}\theta - \theta\theta_{p}u_{p}u) - [(S^{p} - 1)(\rho - \lambda)]u\theta\theta_{p}u_{p})$$

that, using $(S^p - 1)(\rho - \lambda) = \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} (\theta_k u_k - u_k \theta_k)$ (note the different summation boundary), gives

$$= \int \operatorname{Tr} \left(u_{k+p} u_{p} u \theta \theta_{p} \theta_{p+n} + u_{p}^{2} u \theta \theta_{p} \theta_{p} - u_{p} u u_{-k} \theta_{-k} \theta \theta_{p} \right.$$

$$\left. - u_{p} u \theta \theta_{p} u_{p} \theta_{p} + (\rho - \lambda) (u u_{-p} \theta_{-p} \theta - \theta \theta_{p} u_{p} u) \right), \qquad (4.40)$$

$$\mathbf{pr}_{H^{p} \theta} (P_{p-1}) = \int \operatorname{Tr} \left(u_{p+k} u_{k} u \theta \theta_{k} \theta_{p+k} - u_{k} u u_{-p} \theta_{-p} \theta \theta_{k} - u^{2} u_{-p} \theta_{-p} \theta \theta \right.$$

$$\left. - u_{k} u_{k-p} \theta_{k-p} u \theta \theta_{k} + u_{p} u \theta u \theta \theta_{p} + u_{p} u \theta u_{k} \theta_{k} \theta_{p} \right.$$

$$\left. + (\rho - \lambda) (\theta \theta_{p} u_{p} u - u u_{-p} \theta_{-p} \theta) \right).$$

The sum of the three terms, using the properties of the integral, yields

$$\mathbf{pr}_{H_p\theta}(P_p) = \int \operatorname{Tr}\left(u_p u \theta u_k \theta_k \theta_p - u_k u_{k-p} \theta_{k-p} u \theta \theta_k\right).$$

A similar expression appeared in the computations of (4.40). We first shift the second summands by p - k, obtaining

$$\mathbf{pr}_{H_p\theta}(P_p) = \int \operatorname{Tr} u_p u \theta \left(u_k \theta_k - u_{p-k} \theta_{p-k} \right) \theta_p,$$

and then observe that the (implicit) summation runs from 1 to p-1, so that the terms in the bracket cancel out when summed over k. We can then conclude that $\mathbf{pr}_{H_p\theta}(P_p) = 0$, proving our first claim.

5. More nonabelian integrable equations

In this section we present some examples of integrable nonabelian integrable systems. They are the nonabelian counterparts of integrable systems in the list in [21]. We provide their Lax representations and recursion operators without giving the computational details. Moreover, we are able to obtain the Hamiltonian structure and functional for some of them. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first collection of such systems and their recursion operators are new.

5.1. **Nonabelian modified Volterra.** The nonabelian modified Volterra equation

$$u_t = u_1 u^2 - u^2 u_{-1} (5.1)$$

is obtained from the Volterra equation (3.6) with the Miura transformation $w = u_1 u$. More precisely, if u is a solution of modified Volterra then w is a solution of Volterra equation. Indeed,

$$w_t = w_1 w - w w_{-1} = u_2 u_1^2 u - u_1 u^2 u_{-1} = u_{1t} u + u_1 u_t.$$

Applying the Miura transformation, from the Volterra chain (3.6) we obtain the Hamiltonian structure for (5.1)

$$H = w_*^{-1} \left(\mathbf{r}_{u_1 u} \mathcal{S} \mathbf{r}_{u_1 u} - \mathbf{l}_{u_1 u} \mathcal{S}^{-1} \mathbf{l}_{u_1 u} + \mathbf{c}_{u_1 u} \mathbf{r}_{u_1 u} + \mathbf{c}_{u_1 u} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \mathbf{c}_{u_1 u} \right) w_*^{+1}$$

$$= \left(\mathbf{r}_u - \mathbf{l}_u \mathcal{S}^{-1} \right) (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} (\mathcal{S} \mathbf{r}_u - \mathbf{l}_u) + (\mathbf{r}_u \mathcal{S} + \mathbf{l}_{u_1})^{-1} \mathbf{l}_{u_1 u} (\mathcal{S}^{-1} \mathbf{l}_u - \mathbf{r}_u)$$

with the Hamiltonian functional

$$h = \int \operatorname{Tr} u_1 u.$$

and the recursion operator \Re

$$\mathfrak{R} = \left(\mathbf{r}_u - \mathbf{l}_u \mathcal{S}^{-1}\right) (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \left(\mathbf{l}_{u_1 u} - \mathcal{S} \mathbf{r}_{u_1 u} \mathcal{S}\right) \left(\mathbf{l}_{u_1 u} - \mathbf{r}_{u_1 u} \mathcal{S}\right)^{-1} \left(\mathbf{r}_u \mathcal{S} + \mathbf{l}_{u_1}\right).$$

Here we used the identity

$$(r_u S + l_{u_1}) (r_u - l_u S^{-1}) = r_{u_1 u} S - l_{u_1 u} S^{-1}$$

to simplify the expressions of H and \Re .

Note 15. We can consider the nonabelian version of a more general Volterralike equation (see [5] for the commutative case)

$$u_t = u_1 P(u) - P(u) u_{-1},$$

for $P(u) = \alpha u^2 + \beta u + \gamma$, with $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{C}$. Similarly to the commutative case, such a system can be reduced to the Volterra one if $\alpha = 0$, $\beta \neq 0$ with the change of coordinates $u \mapsto \beta^{-1}(u - \gamma)$; when $\alpha \neq 0$, a change of coordinates $t \mapsto \alpha^{-1}t$, $u \mapsto u - \beta/2\alpha$ produces the same equation with $P(u) = u^2 + c$, $c = \gamma/\alpha - \beta^2/(4\alpha^2)$. The Lax pair representation of this system is the same as for the commutative case [21]

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} c\lambda^{-1} & u \\ -u & \lambda \end{pmatrix} \qquad B = \begin{pmatrix} c^2\lambda^{-2} + uu_{-1} & c\lambda^{-1}u + \lambda u_{-1} \\ -c\lambda^{-1}u_{-1} - \lambda u & \lambda^2 + uu_{-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

5.2. **Nonabelian relativistic Toda.** The nonabelian version of the relativistic Toda system [27, 17]

$$\begin{cases} u_t = & u(u_{-1} + v) - (u_1 + v_1) u \\ v_t = & vu_{-1} - uv \end{cases}$$

is Hamiltonian with respect to the Hamiltonian operator

$$H_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathbf{l}_u - \mathbf{r}_u \mathcal{S} \\ \mathcal{S}^{-1} \mathbf{l}_u - \mathbf{r}_u & \mathbf{r}_u \mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1} \mathbf{l}_u - \mathbf{c}_v \end{pmatrix}$$

and the Hamiltonian functional

$$h_0 = \int \text{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{2}\left(u^2 + v^2\right) + uv + u_1u + uv_1\right).$$

As for the non-relativistic Toda lattice, the proof that H_1 is a Hamiltonian difference operator is obtained by a direct computation, after deriving

$$H_1\Theta = \begin{pmatrix} u\zeta - \zeta_1 u \\ u_{-1}\theta_{-1} - \theta u + \zeta_1 u - u_{-1}\zeta_{-1} - \zeta v + v\zeta \end{pmatrix},$$

$$P = -\int \operatorname{Tr} \left(u\zeta\theta + u\theta\zeta_1 - u\zeta\zeta_1 + v\zeta\zeta \right).$$

The hierarchy shares the same Lax representation of the commutative case

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda v - \lambda^{-1} & u_{-1} \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad B = \begin{pmatrix} -\lambda^{-2} - u_{-1} & \lambda^{-1} u_{-1} \\ -\lambda^{-1} & -u_{-2} - v_{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

from which we can compute the recursion operator

$$\mathfrak{R} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{l}_{u}\mathbf{r}_{v} - \mathbf{r}_{u}\mathcal{S}\mathbf{l}_{v} & \mathbf{l}_{u} - \mathbf{r}_{u}\mathcal{S}^{2} \\ 0 & \mathbf{l}_{v} - \mathbf{r}_{v}\mathcal{S} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ (1 - \mathcal{S})^{-1} \left(\mathcal{S}^{-1}\mathbf{l}_{u} - \mathbf{r}_{u}\mathcal{S}\right) & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\cdot \begin{pmatrix} (\mathbf{l}_{u} - \mathbf{r}_{u}\mathcal{S})^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & (1 - \mathcal{S})^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

through the ansatz

$$B^{t} = \lambda^{-2}B^{\tau} + \lambda^{-2}C^{(-2)} + \lambda^{-1}C^{(-1)} + C^{(0)}, \tag{5.2}$$

where $C^{(-2)}$ and $C^{(0)}$ are diagonal matrices and $C^{(-1)}$ is off-diagonal.

We are able to write down the inverse recursion operator \mathfrak{R}^{-1} in the same way as in the commutative case [21]; it can be obtained in a similar way, replacing the role of t and τ in the ansatz (5.2). We get

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{R}^{-1} &= \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{r}_{u}\mathcal{S} - \mathbf{l}_{u} & \mathbf{0} \\ \left(\mathcal{S}^{-1}\mathbf{l}_{u} - \mathbf{r}_{u}\mathcal{S}\right) & 1 - \mathcal{S} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1} & (\mathbf{r}_{u}\mathcal{S}\mathbf{l}_{v} - \mathbf{l}_{u}\mathbf{r}_{v})^{-1} \left(\mathbf{r}_{u}\mathcal{S}^{2} - \mathbf{l}_{u}\right) \\ \mathbf{0} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} (\mathbf{r}_{u}\mathcal{S}\mathbf{l}_{v} - \mathbf{l}_{u}\mathbf{r}_{v})^{-1} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & (\mathbf{l}_{v} - \mathbf{r}_{v}\mathcal{S})^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \end{split}$$

The recursion operator \Re^{-1} has a different seed than \Re , namely

$$\begin{pmatrix} uv^{-1} - {v_1}^{-1}u \\ v_1^{-1}u - u_{-1}v_{-1}^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Using the recursion operator \Re , we obtain the second Hamiltonian structure for the relativistic Toda system, namely we have $H_2 = \Re H_1$ and

$$(H_2)_{11} = l_u S^{-1} l_u - r_u S r_u - r_u c_u + c_u (1 - S)^{-1} c_u$$

$$(H_2)_{12} = l_u r_v - r_u c_v - r_u S r_v + c_u (1 - S)^{-1} c_v$$

$$(H_2)_{21} = l_v S^{-1} l_u - r_{uv} + c_v (1 - S)^{-1} c_u$$

$$(H_2)_{22} = -c_v r_v + c_v (1 - S)^{-1} c_v$$

Note 16. In the commutative case, the Relativistic Toda equation [44], written in variables \bar{u} and \bar{v} is related to the Relativistic Volterra Lattice by the Miura transformation $\bar{u} = -vu$ and $\bar{v} = -(u+v_{-1}+1)$ [21]. For the nonabelian case, this transformation produces the *nonabelian Relativistic Volterra lattice*

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} u_t = vu(1+u) - uv_{-1}(1+u_{-1}) \\ v_t = (1+v_1)u_1v - (1+v)vu. \end{array} \right.$$

It possesses a Lax representation

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda^2 + 2u_1 + 2v + 1 & -\lambda(2v+1) - \lambda^{-1}(2u_1 + 1) \\ -\lambda(2u_1 + 1) - \lambda^{-1}(2v+1) & \lambda^{-2} + 2u_1 + 2v + 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$B = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{\lambda^2 - \lambda^{-2}}{8} + vu + \frac{u}{2} + \frac{v}{2} & \frac{\lambda}{4}(2v+1) + \frac{\lambda^{-1}}{4}(2u+1) \\ \frac{\lambda}{4}(2u+1) + \frac{\lambda^{-1}}{4}(2v+1) & \frac{\lambda^2 - \lambda^{-2}}{8} + vu + \frac{u}{2} + \frac{v}{2} \end{pmatrix}$$

5.3. Nonabelian Merola-Ragnisco-Tu Lattice

$$\begin{cases} u_t = u_1 - uvu \\ v_t = -v_{-1} + vuv \end{cases}$$

Lax representation:

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & v \\ u & -2\lambda - uv \end{pmatrix}; \qquad B = \begin{pmatrix} -\lambda & -v_{-1} \\ -u & \lambda \end{pmatrix}$$

Hamiltonian structure:

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}; \qquad h = u_1 v - \frac{uvuv}{2}$$

Recursion operator:

$$\mathfrak{R} = \begin{pmatrix} S - \mathbf{l}_{uv} & 0 \\ 0 & S^{-1} - \mathbf{r}_{uv} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -\mathbf{r}_{u}S & -\mathbf{l}_{u} \\ l_{v} & \mathbf{r}_{v}S \end{pmatrix} (S - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{r}_{v} & \mathbf{l}_{u} \\ \mathbf{l}_{v} & \mathbf{r}_{u} \end{pmatrix}$$

5.4. Nonabelian Kaup Lattice.

$$\begin{cases} u_t = (u_1 - u)(u + v) \\ v_t = (u + v)(v - v_{-1}) \end{cases}$$

Lax representation

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} u - \lambda & uv + \lambda(u+v) + \lambda^2 \\ 1 & v - \lambda \end{pmatrix}; \qquad B = \begin{pmatrix} u & (u+\lambda)(v_{-1}+\lambda) \\ 1 & v_{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

We compute its recursion operator with the ansatz

$$B^{(t)} = \lambda B^{(\tau)} + \begin{pmatrix} \lambda a + e & \lambda^2 a + \lambda b + c \\ a & \lambda a + d \end{pmatrix}$$

and obtain

$$\mathfrak{R} = \begin{pmatrix}
-\mathbf{r}_{u}\mathcal{S} & -\mathbf{l}_{u} \\
-\mathbf{r}_{v} & -\mathbf{l}_{v}\mathcal{S}^{-1}
\end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix}
\mathbf{l}_{u_{1}-u}\mathbf{r}_{u+v}\mathcal{S} \\
\mathbf{l}_{u+v}\mathbf{r}_{v-v_{-1}}
\end{pmatrix} (\mathbf{l}_{u+v} - \mathbf{r}_{u+v}\mathcal{S})^{-1} \begin{pmatrix}
1 & 1
\end{pmatrix} \\
+ \begin{pmatrix}
\mathcal{S} \\
-1
\end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix}
\mathbf{r}_{v} (1 - \mathcal{S}) & \mathbf{l}_{u} (1 - \mathcal{S}^{-1})
\end{pmatrix}$$

5.5. Nonabelian Ablowitz-Ladik Lattice

$$\begin{cases} u_t = \alpha(u_1 - u_1 v u) + \beta(u v u_{-1} - u_{-1}) \\ v_t = \alpha(v u v_{-1} - v_{-1}) + \beta(v_1 - v_1 u v) \end{cases} \quad \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{C}$$

Its Lax representation is

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & u \\ v & \lambda^{-1} \end{pmatrix}; \qquad B = \alpha \begin{pmatrix} \lambda^2 - uv_{-1} & \lambda u \\ \lambda v_{-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \beta \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \lambda^{-1}u_{-1} \\ \lambda^{-1}v & \lambda^{-2} - vu_{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

We compute its recursion operator with the ansatz

$$B^t = \lambda^2 B^{\tau} + \begin{pmatrix} a & \lambda b \\ \lambda c & \lambda^2 d \end{pmatrix}$$

and obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{R} &= \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{S} & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{S}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{r}_{u}\mathcal{S} \\ -\mathbf{l}_{v} \end{pmatrix} (1-\mathcal{S})^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{r}_{v}\mathcal{S} & \mathbf{l}_{u}\mathcal{S}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{r}_{vu-1}\mathcal{S}\mathbf{l}_{u} \\ -\mathbf{l}_{vu-1}\mathbf{r}_{v_{-1}} \end{pmatrix} (\mathbf{l}_{vu-1} - \mathbf{r}_{vu-1}\mathcal{S})^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{l}_{v} & \mathbf{r}_{u} \end{pmatrix} \end{split}$$

We are able to write down the inverse recursion operator \mathfrak{R}^{-1} in the same way as in the commutative case [21]; it can be obtained in a similar way, replacing the role of t and τ in the ansatz. We get

$$\mathfrak{R}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{S}^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{S} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{l}_{u} \\ -\mathbf{r}_{v}\mathcal{S} \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{l}_{v}\mathcal{S}^{-1} & \mathbf{r}_{u}\mathcal{S} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -\mathbf{l}_{uv-1}\mathbf{r}_{u-1} \\ \mathbf{r}_{uv-1}\mathcal{S}\mathbf{l}_{v} \end{pmatrix} (\mathbf{l}_{uv-1} - \mathbf{r}_{uv-1}\mathcal{S})^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{r}_{v} & \mathbf{l}_{u} \end{pmatrix}$$

Note that the seed for \Re is the coefficient of α in the equation while the seed for \Re^{-1} is the coefficient of β .

5.6. Nonabelian Chen-Lee-Liu lattice.

$$\begin{cases} u_t = (u_1 - u)(1 + vu) \\ v_t = (1 + vu)(v - v_{-1}) \end{cases}$$

Its Lax representation is

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda + uv & u \\ (1 - \lambda)v & 1 \end{pmatrix}; \qquad B = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda - 1 + uv_{-1} & u \\ (1 - \lambda)v_{-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

We compute its recursion operator with the ansatz

$$B^{(t)} = \lambda B^{(\tau)} + \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ (1 - \lambda)c & (1 - \lambda)d \end{pmatrix}$$

and obtain

$$\mathfrak{R} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{r}_{1+vu}\mathcal{S} - \mathbf{r}_{vu} + \mathbf{l}_{(u_{1}-u)v} & \mathbf{l}_{u_{1}-u}\mathbf{r}_{u} + \mathbf{l}_{u}\mathbf{r}_{u}\mathcal{S}^{-1} \\ \mathbf{l}_{v}\mathbf{r}_{v} & \mathcal{S}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{r}_{u} \\ -\mathbf{l}_{v} \end{pmatrix} (1-\mathcal{S})^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{r}_{v}(1-\mathcal{S}) & \mathbf{l}_{u}(1-\mathcal{S}^{-1}) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{l}_{(u-u_{1})(1+vu)} \\ \mathbf{l}_{1+vu}\mathbf{r}_{v_{1}-v} \end{pmatrix} (\mathbf{l}_{1+vu} - \mathbf{r}_{1+vu}\mathcal{S})^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{l}_{v} & \mathbf{r}_{u} \end{pmatrix}$$

5.7. Nonabelian Blaszak-Marciniak Lattice.

$$\begin{cases} u_t = w_1 - w_{-1} \\ v_t = w_{-1}u_{-1} - uw \\ w_t = wv - v_1w \end{cases}$$

It is a Hamiltonian system with a Hamiltonian structure

$$H_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} S - S^{-1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{l}_{v} - \mathbf{r}_{v} & S^{-1} \mathbf{l}_{w} - \mathbf{r}_{w} \\ 0 & \mathbf{l}_{w} - \mathbf{r}_{w} S & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad h = uw + \frac{1}{2}v^{2}$$

Its Lax representation is

$$L = S^2 + u_1 S - v_1 + w S^{-1}, \qquad A = S^2 + u_1 S - v_1$$

from which we can compute the recursion operator \Re by

$$L_t = [L, A^t]$$

with the ansatz

$$A^t = LA^{\tau} + aS + b + cS^{-1}.$$

The explicit form of the operator is rather big. In factorised form we have $\Re = KH_1^{-1}$ with

$$(K)_{11} = l_{v}S^{-1} - Sr_{v} + (l_{u}S - r_{u})(1 - S^{2})^{-1}(Sr_{u} - l_{u})$$

$$(K)_{21} = S^{-1}l_{w}S^{-1} - r_{w}S - c_{v}(1 - S^{2})^{-1}(Sr_{u} - l_{u})$$

$$(K)_{22} = l_{u}r_{w}S - S^{-1}l_{w}r_{u} + r_{v}c_{v} - c_{v}(1 - S^{2})^{-1}c_{v}$$

$$(K)_{31} = (l_{w} - r_{w}S)(1 - S^{2})^{-1}(Sr_{u} - l_{u})$$

$$(K)_{32} = r_{w}Sr_{v} - l_{w}r_{v} + (l_{w} - r_{w}S)(1 - S^{2})^{-1}c_{v}$$

$$(K)_{33} = r_{w}Sr_{u} - l_{w}r_{w} + (l_{w} - r_{w}S)(1 - S^{2})^{-1}(r_{w} - S^{-1}l_{w}).$$

6. Discussion and further work

In this paper we have computed nonabelian Hamiltonian structures for some difference system. It should be noted that in the scalar cases (Volterra and modified Volterra, as well as Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky) all the Hamiltonian operators we have identified are nonlocal, even when the nonlocal terms do not contribute to the equation. On the other hand, the first Hamiltonian structures of the two Toda systems we have investigated are local. We could not find local nonabelian Hamiltonian structures for the systems 5.4, 5.5, 5.6, despite their commutative counterparts are extremely simple. For instance, the Hamiltonian structure for the Abelian Ablowitz-Ladik lattice is [21]

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 - uv \\ -(1 - uv) & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

A recent development in the study of nonabelian ODEs [6] suggests that brackets of Loday type can play the same role as Hamiltonian structures, satisfying weaker conditions.

A wider investigation (and, possibly, classification) of the nonabelian difference Hamiltonian structures (on the lines of what has been done for the commutative case in [13]) will be carried out in a forthcoming work,

where we will also present the nonlocal structures for the aforementioned systems 5.4, 5.5, and 5.6.

The generalisation from the Abelian case to the nonabelian case is not straightforward. In Abelian case, the Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice (4.1) has a product form

$$v_t = v(\prod_{k=1}^p v_k - \prod_{k=1}^p v_{-k}), \tag{6.1}$$

For fixed p, it transforms into (4.1) under the transformation $u = \prod_{k=0}^{p-1} v_k$. There is also the modified Bogoyavlensky chain given by

$$w_t = w^2 (\prod_{k=1}^p w_k - \prod_{k=1}^p w_{-k}), \tag{6.2}$$

which is related to (4.1) by the Miura transformation $u = \prod_{k=0}^{p} w_k$. There Miura transformations are not valid for the nonabelian case except when p = 1.

In 2011, Adler and Postnikov introduced a family of integrable lattice hierarchies associated with fractional Lax operators in [3, 4]. One simple example is

$$u_t = u^2(u_p \cdots u_1 - u_{-1} \cdots u_{-p}) - u(u_{p-1} \cdots u_1 - u_{-1} \cdots u_{1-p}), \quad 2 \le p \in \mathbb{N},$$
 (6.3)

which is an integrable discretisation for the Sawada-Kotera equation. Notice that equation (6.3) is a combination of equations (6.2) and (6.1) with different p. For them, there are no direct generalisation to nonabelian case. In differential case, the Sawada-Kotera equation possesses no nonabelian version [42, 43]. It would be interesting to see whether there exists nonabelian discretisation for the Sawada-Kotera equation. On the other hand, there are two nonabelian discretizations of Burgers' equation:

$$u_t = (u_1 - u)u$$
 and $u_t = u(u_1 - u)$,

which can be transformed, by the Cole-Hopf transformation

$$u = v_1 v^{-1}$$
 and $u = v^{-1} v_1$

respectively, into the linear equation $v_t = v_1$.

In this paper, we present some new examples of nonabelian integrable differential-difference systems with their Lax representations, Hamiltonian and recursion operators. The list is by no mean to be complete. For example, we didn't include the nonabelian Belov-Chaltikian Lattice

$$\begin{cases} u_t = v_2 u - u v_{-1} \\ v_t = v_1 v - v v_{-1} + u_{-1} - u \end{cases}$$

whose Lax representation is

$$U = \left(\begin{array}{cccc} \lambda & \lambda v & \lambda u_{-1} \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{array} \right); \qquad B = \left(\begin{array}{cccc} v - \lambda & -\lambda v & -\lambda u_{-1} \\ -1 & v_{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & v_{-2} \end{array} \right).$$

In the Abelian case, it is the Boussinesq lattice related to the lattice W_3 -algebra [19], and can be generalised to an m-component Boussinesq lattice

related to the lattice W_{m+1} -algebra [32]. It deserves a further study on its own right. The classification problem even for scalar case remains open.

The recursion operators for nonabelian integrable differential-difference systems are highly nonlocal. For Abelian case, there are some general results to prove that they generate local hierarchies under checkable conditions, see for example [50]. In section 4.2, we proved that this is indeed true for the nonabelian Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice. However, we haven't proved any general results for other integrable equations.

Acknowledgements

The paper is supported by the EPSRC grant EP/P012698/1. Both authors gratefully acknowledge the financial support. JPW would like to thank V. V. Sokolov for useful discussions.

References

- [1] Ablowitz M J and Segur H 1981 Solitons and the Inverse Scattering Transform. (Philadelphia: SIAM).
- [2] Ablowitz M J and Clarkson P A. 1991 *Solitons, nonlinear evolution equations and inverse scattering (LMS Lecture Series* vol 149). (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).
- [3] Adler V E 2011 On a discrete analog of the Tzitzeica equation. arXiv:1103.5139.
- [4] Adler V E and Postnikov V V 2011 Differential-difference equations associated with the fractional Lax operators. *J. Phys.* A **44**(41) 415203.
- [5] Adler V E and Yamilov R I 1994 Explicit auto-transformations of integrable chains *J. Phys. A*, **27**(2) 477–492.
- [6] Arthamonov S 2015 Noncommutative inverse scattering method for the Kontsevich system. *Lett. Math. Phys* **105**(9) 1223–1251.
- [7] Blaszak M 2001 On the construction of recursion operator and algebra of symmetries for field and lattice systems. *Reports on Mathematical Physics*, **48**(1-2) 27–38.
- [8] Bogoyavlensky O I 1988 Integrable discretizations of the KdV equation. *Physics Letters* A, **134**(1) 34–38.
- [9] Brushi M, Manakov S V, Ragnisco O and Levi D 1980The non-Abelian Toda lattice (discrete analogue of the matrix Schrödinger spectral problem). *J. Math. Phys.* **21** 2749–2753.
- [10] Carpentier S, Mikhailov A V and Wang J P 2019. Rational recursion operators for integrable differential-difference equations. *Commun. Math. Phys.* **370**(3) 807–851.
- [11] Casati M and Wang J P 2019 A Darboux-Getzler theorem for scalar difference Hamiltonian operators. *Commun. Math. Phys.* **374** 1497–1529.
- [12] Demskoi D K and Sokolov V V 2008 On recursion operators for elliptic models. *Nonlinearity*, **21** 1253–1264.
- [13] De Sole A, Kac V G, Valeri D and Wakimoto, M 2019 Local and Non-local Multiplicative Poisson Vertex Algebras and Differential-Difference Equations. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, **370**(3) 1019–1068.
- [14] Fuchssteiner B and Chodwury R A 1995 A new approach to the quantum KdV *Chaos Solitons Fractals* **5**(12) 2345–2355.

- [15] Fuchssteiner B, Oevel W and Wiwianka W 1987 Computer-algebra methods for investigation of hereditary operators of higher order soliton equations. *Comput. Phys. Comm.*, **44**(1-2) 47–55.
- [16] Gekhtman M 1998 Hamiltonian structure of non-abelian Toda lattice. *Letters in Math.Phys.* **46**(3) 189–205.
- [17] Gekhtman M and Korovnichenko O 2011 Matrix Weil functions and non-abelian Coxeter-Toda lattices *Notions of Positivity and the Geometry of Polynomials (Trends in Mathematics)* ed Brändén P et al (Basel: Springer) 221–237.
- [18] Gürses M, Karasu A and Sokolov V V 1999 On construction of recursion operators from Lax representation. *J. Math. Phys.*, **40**(12) 6473–6490.
- [19] Hikami K and Inoue R 1997 Classical lattice *w* algebras and integrable systems. *J. Phys.* A **30** 6911–6924.
- [20] Itoh Y 1987 Integrals of a Lotka-Volterra system of odd number of variables. *Progr. Theoret. Phys.*, **78**(3) 507–510.
- [21] Khanizadeh F, Mikhailov A V and Wang J P 2013 Darboux transformations and recursion operators for differential–difference equations. *Theoret. Math. Phys.* **177**(3) 1606–1654.
- [22] Korepin V E 1983 Quantization of a non-Abelian Toda chain *J Math Sci* **23** 2429–2434.
- [23] Kosmann-Schwarzbach Y 1981 Hamiltonian systems on fibered manifolds. Poisson and vertical brackets in field theory. *Lett. Math. Phys.* 5(3) 229–237.
- [24] Krichever I 1981. The periodic non-Abelian Toda chain and its two-dimensional generalization *Russian Math. Surveys* **36** 82–89.
- [25] Kupershmidt B A 1980 Geometry of jet bundles and the structure of Lagrangian and Hamiltonian formalisms. *Geometric methods in mathematical physics (Lecture Notes in Math.* vol 775) (Berlin: Springer) 162–218.
- [26] Kupershmidt B A 1985 Discrete Lax equations and differential-difference calculus *Astérisque* **123** 212.
- [27] Kupershmidt B A 2000 *KP or mKP*. (Providence, RI: American Math. Soc).
- [28] Lax P D 1968 Integrals of nonlinear equations of evolution and solitary waves. *Commun. Pure and Applied Math.*, **21**(5) 467–490.
- [29] Li C and Song T 2016 Bi-Hamiltonian structure of the extended non-commutative Toda hierarchy *J. Nonlinear Math. Phys.* **23**(3) 368–382.
- [30] Lombardo S and Mikhailov A V 2005 Reduction groups and automorphic lie algebras. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, **258** 179–202.
- [31] Maltsev A Y and Novikov S P 2001 On the local systems Hamiltonian in the weakly nonlocal Poisson brackets. *Physica* D **156**(1-2) 53–80.
- [32] Marí Beffa G and Wang J P 2013 Hamiltonian evolutions of twisted gons in RP^n . *Nonlinearity* **26**(9) 2515–2551.
- [33] Mikhailov A V 1980 Reduction in integrable systems. The reduction group. *JETP Lett.* **32**(2) 187–192.
- [34] Mikhailov A V 1981. The reduction problem and the inverse scattering method. *Physica* D, **3**(1& 2) 73–117.

- [35] Mikhailov A V and Sokolov V V 2000 Integrable ODEs on associative algebras *Commun. Math. Phys.* **211**(1) 231–251.
- [36] Mikhailov A V, Wang J P and Xenitidis P 2011. Cosymmetries and Nijenhuis recursion operators for difference equations. *Nonlinearity* **24**(7) 2079–2097.
- [37] Ismail M E H and Koelink E and Román P 2019 Matrix valued Hermite polynomials, Burchnall formulas and non-abelian Toda lattice *Advances in Applied Mathematics* **110** 235–269.
- [38] Narita K 1982 Soliton solution to extended Volterra equation. *J. Math. Soc. Japan* **51**(5) 1682–1685.
- [39] Novikov S P, Manakov S V, Pitaevskiĭ L P and Zakharov V E 1984 Theory of solitons. The inverse scattering method. (Contemporary Soviet Mathematics). (New York: Consultants Bureau (plenum)).
- [40] Olver P J 1980 On the Hamiltonian structure of evolution equations. *Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc.* **88**(1) 71–88.
- [41] Olver P J 1993 *Applications of Lie Groups to Differential Equations.* (*Graduate Texts in Mathematics* vol 107) (New York: Springer)
- [42] Olver P J and Sokolov V V 1998 Integrable evolution equations on associative algebras. *Commun. Math. Phys.* **193**(2) 245–268.
- [43] Olver P J and Wang J P 2000 Classification of integrable one-component systems on associative algebras. *Proc. London Math. Soc.*. **81**(3) 566–586.
- [44] Ruijsenaars S N M 1990 Relativistic Toda systems. *Commun. Math. Phys.* **133**(2) 217–247.
- [45] Sanders J A and Wang J P 2001 Integrable systems and their recursion operators *Nonlinear Anal.*, **47** 5213–5240.
- [46] Sergyeyev A 2005 Why nonlocal recursion operators produce local symmetries: new results and applications *J. Phys.* A **38** 3397–3407.
- [47] Sokolov V V 2020 *Algebraic Structures in Integrability* (Singapore: World Scientific)
- [48] Svinin A K 2009 On some class of reductions for the Itoh–Narita–Bogoyavlenskii lattice *J. Phys.* A **42** 454021.
- [49] Svinin A K 2011 On some class of homogeneous polynomials and explicit form of integrable hierarchies of differential-difference equations *J. Phys.* A 44 165206.
- [50] Wang J P 2009 Lenard scheme for two-dimensional periodic Volterra chain *J. Math. Phys.* **50** 023506.
- [51] Wang J P 2012 Recursion operator of the Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice. *Stud. Appl. Math.* **129**(3) 309–327.
- [52] Wolf T and Efimovskaya O 2012 On Integrability of the Kontsevich Non-Abelian ODE System. *Letters in Math. Phys.* **100**(2) 161–170.

School of Mathematics, Statistics and Actuarial Science, University of Kent, Canterbury CT2 9FS, United Kingdom